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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DA EH
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Registered Office
Clarendon House

2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong

Units 2003-2006, 20th Floor
Greenfield Tower, Concordia Plaza
1 Science Museum Road
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Stock Code

Stock Code on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited: 00725

Legal Advisors
Michael Li & Co.

19th Floor, Prosperity Tower
39 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
Hang Seng Bank

China Construction Bank (Asia)
Dah Sing Bank

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

Principal Registrar and Transfer Office
Conyers Corporate Services (Bermuda) Limited

Clarendon House

2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11

Bermuda

Branch Registrar and Transfer Office
Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square

338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong

Website

http://perennial.todayir.com
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Perennial International Limited is dedicated to maintain the 1{E#EBEERATABNIREELDER - BRISEEA
high quality of its products, manufacturing processes and service  EBIE * MEFTURAANBE - B REFRE
to customers and to forge a worldwide reputation as a business &% @ BEEBRRE  ZEE -

demanding excellence in all of its operations.




The Perennial Group, founded in 1989, manufactures and trades
quality wire harnesses, power cord, power cord sets, cables and
solid wire and plastic resins. The Group’s primary markets are
America, Europe, Australia, Mainland China, Japan and Southeast
Asia where it sells to prominent multi-national producers of
electrical and electronic products.

Headquartered in Hong Kong, as at 31st December 2022,
the Group employed 790 full time staff worldwide involved in
management, sales and marketing, shipping, procurement, financial
and accounting, engineering, production and manufacturing. The
Group considers its employees to be its most important asset
while its key values are quality, prudence and integrity.
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Perennial International Limited E#B 5 E & R A A

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Perennial International Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to announce the audited consolidated financial results of the
Company, together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December 2022.

The Group's revenue was HK$324,524,000 (2021:
HK$373,472,000). Profit for the year was HK$15,848,000 compared
to HK$13,689,000 for 2021. Earnings per share was HK$0.080
(2021: HK$0.069).

Final Dividend

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.03
per share for the year ended 31st December 2022. The Group's
total dividend for the year ended 31st December 2021 amounts to
HK$0.02 per share.

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be
held on 23rd May 2023 (“2023 AGM") and is to be payable on 14th
June 2023 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 5th June 2023.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on Tuesday, 23rd May 2023 (“2023 AGM").

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
following periods:

() from Thursday, 18th May 2023 to Tuesday, 23rd May 2023,
both days inclusive and during which period no share transfer
will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’
eligibility to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM. In order to
be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company's
branch share registrar, Union Registrars Limited at Suites
3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's
Road, North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:00 p.m. on
Wednesday, 17th May 2023.

(i) from 31st May 2023 to 5th June 2023, both days inclusive
and during which period no share transfer will be effected,
for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend. In order to establish entitlements
to the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F,
Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North
Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:00 p.m. on 30th May 2023.
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Business Review

The Group's revenue decreased by 13% to HK$324.5 million in this
financial year 2022. The reduction in revenue was mainly due to
decreased orders in view of the sudden acute increase in interest
rates of major markets during the latter part of 2022, continued
uncertainties caused by the unceasing Russian-Ukrainian war, the
ongoing worsening Sino-US trade conflicts and prolonged stringent
anti-pandemic measures imposed on Mainland interrupting
production plans of customers relying on China’s supply chain.

Sales of power cords accounted for 59% (2021: 58%), wire
harness recorded 33% (2021: 33%) while cables, wires and plastic
resins accounted for remaining 8% (2021: 9%) of the Group's
revenue.

By geographical market segments, turnover from the business in
America decreased by 10.4% to approximately HK$188,541,000
from approximately HK$210,351,000 for the same period of last
year, accounting for 58.1% of the Group’s total turnover. Turnover
from the deliveries in Mainland China and Hong Kong decreased
by 23.0% to approximately HK$97,945,000 from approximately
HK$127,210,000 for the same period of last year, accounting
for 30.2% of the Group's total turnover. Only the turnover from
the business to Japan recorded a slight increased by 8.6% to
approximately HK$35,560,000 from approximately HK$32,755,000
for the same period of last year, accounting for 11.0% of the
Group's total turnover.

The gross margin increased slightly from 21.4% in 2021 to 23.0%
in 2022 as the Group adopted series of proactive measures in
respond to evolving challenges during the year under review. The
ongoing measures to maintain operational efficiency resulted in
the Group lowering overall costs of goods sold such as direct
labour, utilities and logistic expenses while facing all the mounting
pressures in supply chain and fluctuating material costs during the
year under review.

The Group recorded a net profit margin of 4.9% in 2022 compared
to 3.7% in 2021. The slight growth in net profit were mainly due
to improved gross margins, further complimented with lower
distribution, administration and operating expenses for the year
ended 31st December 2022.

Despite certain pandemic related restrictions imposed by the local
authorities during the year under review, as demanded by our
major customers, the Group shifted additional labour-intensive
activities to our Vietnam factory. The factory in Quang Ngai,
Vietnam was fully functional as internal renovation, new equipment
and machinery installations works were completed enabling the
cable manufacturing section was fully operational since latter part
of 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FREHREE)

Business Review (Continued)

The Sino-US trade disputes posed significant challenges for the
Group's Mainland China factories in 2021. The quest to move
further production away from Mainland China for North America
destined goods led to lesser utilisation of the Group’s mainland
production facilities. This resulted in underutilisation of the Group's
property, plant and equipment in Mainland China during the year
under review, as management resolved to lease certain idle section
of our Heyuan factory to external party for alternate usage.

During the year 2022, COVID-19 pandemic and the constant
emergence of new variants continued to affect material costs,
supply chain and deliveries to customers. The Group cautiously
ordered and purchased materials, produced finished goods and
shipped accordingly resulting in 9.6% reduction in inventory as at
31st December 2022, from HK$161.5 million as at 31st December
2021 compared to HK$146.1 million.

The decrease in revenue conceivably led to a decrease in trade and
bill receivables from HK$78.0 million in 2021 to HK$52.2 million
in 2022. During the year under review, precautionary steps taken
included credit insurance covering receivables from a few major
customers.

While the financial impacts for the strategies in place resulted in
considerable decrease in bank borrowings to HK$22.8 million in
2022 from HK$74.4 million as at 31st December 2021, resulted
reducing the Group's gearing level to 4.0% as at 31st December
2022 compared to 13.1% as at 31st December 2021. The Group
had improvement in cash flow status in operating activities mainly
from decrease in inventories and collection from trade receivables
which generated operating cash flow of HK$59.9 million during the
year. Such fund was mainly used for repayment of borrowings in
view of the significant increased effective interest rate.
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Future Prospect

Since the early months of 2023, the COVID-19 pandemic presumed
no longer substantially impact business activities and excessive
freight charges showing clear sign of returning to normal in the
foreseeable future. As at the date of this report, the worsening
trade conflicts between Mainland China and US plus the unfolding
war in Ukraine will continue to cause unstable supply chain, and
fluctuating material costs.

Although our business are not immune to the effects of inflation
and high interest rates faced by most economies, but we are
confident that our “procure ahead, produce ahead, and ship ahead”
strategies implemented years ago complimented with our recently
enlarged production capacities in South East Asia and continuous
launch of newly developed wire harness products will enable the
Group to continue to maintain our profitability impetus amid a
rapidly changing business environment.

The Group’'s continuing success in meeting demand by
working closely with our clients underpin our expectation of
further improvement in 2023. The Group therefore moves into
another new year with cautious optimisms. The strong product
development capabilities of our Mainland China factory along
with proven sourcing and procurement competence has placed
the Group in a readiness position to respond to potential market
disruption. Management will continue to review status of our
Mainland factories to ensure better utilisation going forward.

The return to face-to-face meetings in early 2023 with our
customers to expand business is contingent upon the success
of measures taken to alleviate and mitigate side effects of the
persisting Sino-US trade rivalry. Similar to 2022, there are huge
uncertainties in how the situation will unfold as management will
need to maintain operations of both our more costly Mainland
China and competitive Vietnam factories and allocate production in
line with ongoing demand by our customers, whom are currently
repositioning their coming sourcing locations and strategies.

We are confident as the Group is well placed to overcome
ongoing and new challenges. We believe having weathered
the unprecedented effects of economic uncertainties, war and
pandemic in 2022, the Group moved into 2023 with cautious
optimism, prepared to both capture new opportunities arising
from anticipated gradual market recovery and navigate through
continuing disruptions.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERBE(E)

Corporate Governance

The Group is committed to safeguarding shareholders’ rights and
enhancing corporate governance standard. As a result, the Group
has established the Compliance Committee, Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee to adhere to
the best practice.

Social Responsibility

The Group's factories are regularly subject to factory audit by
multinational enterprises. The factory audit served as a catalyst to
enhance the Group’s standard on corporate social responsibility.

Moreover, the Group holds a strong belief in corporate social
responsibility. So the Group continues to participate in and support
community activities in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Vietnam.

With regards to the Group's ESG performance, please refer to
the Group's ESG report which will be available on the Company’s
website at http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock Exchange's
website before 30th April 2023.

Vote of Thanks

As we move forward into 2023, we wish to thank all our
stakeholders — most notably the clients, shareholders, suppliers
and employees — for their resilience, dedication and enthusiasm
during these turbulent times. It is with their continued support that
the Group will succeed in growing its strength and delivering even
greater value in the new financial year and for many more years to
come.

By Order of the Board
Koo Di An, Louise
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21st March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st December 2022, the consolidated short-term
borrowings of the Group was approximately HK$22,775,000. The
borrowings are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US
dollars. The bank balances and cash amounted to approximately
HK$21,048,000.

As at 31st December 2022, the Group's trade and bill receivables
balance was approximately HK$52,159,000, representing 16.1% of
the year's revenue of approximately HK$324,524,000. The Group
adopted a stringent credit policy to minimise credit risk.

As at 31st December 2022, the Group's gearing ratio, which is
calculated by dividing total borrowings to total equity was 4.0%
(2021: 13.1%).

The Group’s average cost of borrowings was 3.1% per annum for
the year ended 31st December 2022 (2021: 1.6%).

Capital Structure

As at 31st December 2022, the consolidated shareholders’ equity
of the Group was approximately HK$566,105,000, representing a
decrease of 0.5% over that of the previous year. The debt to equity
ratio, which is calculated by dividing total liabilities to shareholders’
equity, was approximately 16.9%.

Capital Expenditure and Material

Acquisitions
During the year, capital expenditure approximate to HK$1,673,000.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31st December 2022, the Group’s trade and loan finance
facilities amounted to approximately HK$135,040,000, which
were secured by legal charges over certain land and buildings and

investment properties of the Group with a total carrying value of
HK$123,600,000.

Segment Information

During the year under review, Hong Kong, America and Mainland
China continued to be the Group's major markets, accounting
for approximately 13%, 58% and 17% of the Group’s total sales
respectively. The remaining 12% of sales were generated from
customers located in Japan and other countries.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E R MM (&)

Employees’ Remuneration Policy

As at 31st December 2022, the Group employed 790 full time
management, administrative and production staff worldwide.
The Group follows market practice on remuneration packages.
Employee’s remuneration is reviewed and determined by senior
management annually depending on the employee’s performance,
experience and industry practice. The total amount of employee’s
remuneration was set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
information in this report. The Group invests in its human capital. In
addition to on-job training, the Group adopts policies of continuous
professional training programs.

Foreign Exchange Exposure
All foreseeable foreign exchange risks of the Group are
appropriately managed and hedged, if necessary.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31st December 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is firmly committed to statutory and regulatory
corporate governance standards with emphasis on transparency,
independence, accountability, responsibility and fairness.

The Corporate Governance Code

The Directors confirm that the Company has fully complied with
the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code") attached to the Listing Rules as Appendix 14, and adopted
recommended best practices set out in the Code whenever
appropriate. During the year, Ms. Koo Di An, Louise, Chairman,
was unable to hold a meeting with the Independent Non-Executive
Directors without the presence of the Executive Directors due to
other prior business engagements.

The Board

The Board’'s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term
shareholder value. It sets the overall strategy for the Group and
supervises executive management to whom the responsibility of
managing the day-to-day operation of the Group is delegated. In
the course of discharging its duties, the Board acts in integrity, due
diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders.

The Board oversees the Company in a responsible and effective
manner. It has adopted formal terms of reference which details
its functions and responsibilities. Its main responsibilities include,
but not limited to, ensuring competent management, approving
objectives, strategies and business plans, ensuring prudent
conduct of operations within laws and approved policies, ensuring
and monitoring integrity in the Company’s conduct of affairs. Day-
to-day management of the Group is delegated to the Executive
Directors or the officer in charge of each division who are given
clear directions as to his/her powers and are required to report back
to the Board. Functions reserved to the Board and delegated to the
management are reviewed periodically. The Directors, as members
of the Board, jointly share responsibility for the proper direction
of the Company. The Company has formal service contract with
each Director setting out the key terms and conditions of his/her
appointment.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRS (&)

The Board (Continued)

The Board currently consists of eight (8) members whose details
are set out on pages 31 to 32 of this report. It meets quarterly and
holds specific meetings as and when they are deemed necessary.
The Board held four (4) meetings during the year ended 31st
December 2022. Notices of Board meetings were given to the
Directors at least 14 days prior to the date of the meetings with
the agenda and any accompanying Board papers sent at least
three days before the date of the meetings. All Directors are given
the opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda.
Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings, recording
in sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached,
are kept by the Company Secretary and sent to the Directors or
the committee members (as appropriate) for their comment and
records within reasonable time after the meeting is held. They are
also available for inspection by the Directors at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director. A record of the Directors’
attendance at Board meetings is set out on page 26 of this report.

The Group provides extensive background information about its
history, mission and businesses to the Directors. The Directors are
also provided with the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational
facilities and meet with the management to gain a better
understanding of its business operations.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

During the year, all Directors, namely, Messrs Mon Chung Hung,
Siu Yuk Shing, Marco, Mon Wai Ki, Vicky, Mon Tiffany, Koo Di An,
Louise, Lau Chun Kay, Lee Chung Nai, Jones and Chung Kit Ying,
received regular briefings and updates on the Group’s business,
operations, risk management and corporate governance matters.
Materials on new or changes to salient laws and regulations
applicable to the Group were provided to the Directors. They also
attended regulatory update sessions and seminars on relevant
topics. All Directors are requested to provide the Company with
their respective training record pursuant to the Code and confirmed
that they have complied with C.1.4 of the Code.

The Board has separate and independent access to the senior
management and the Company Secretary at all times. The Board
and each Board Committee also has access to independent
professional advice where appropriate.
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The Board (Continued)

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
for the Directors and the senior management of the Group for
indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

In order to reinforce independence, accountability and area of
responsibility, the role of the Chairman is separate from that of the
Chief Executive Officer. Ms. Koo Di An, Louise is the chairman
of the Company and Mr. Mon Chung Hung is the chief executive
officer of the Company. Their respective responsibilities are clearly
established and set out in writing. The Chairman manages the
Board and is responsible for ensuring that adequate information is
provided to the Directors in a timely manner and all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings, while the
Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing strategies,
policies, and for conducting the Group's businesses.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
Directors that have served longest on the Board must retire at each
annual general meeting, and may offer themselves for re-election.
Notwithstanding that the Non-Executive Directors are appointed
for a specific term of one to three years, they are also subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years as other
Directors do. To enhance accountability, any further re-appointment
of an Independent Non-Executive Director, who has served the
Board for more than nine years, is subject to a separate resolution
to be passed by the shareholders. In addition, Directors who are
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment
according to the Company’s Bye-laws.

Pursuant to the requirement of the Listing Rules, the Company
confirms receipt of a written confirmation from each of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors for confirmation of his
independence to the Company. The Company considers all its
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRS (&)

Responsibilities of the Directors for the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment of the Company’s and the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The Directors should prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, with
supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary. The Board’s
responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other price-
sensitive announcements and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, and reports to regulators as well as
to information required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

Board Committees

The Board has established four (4) committees, each of them
having specific terms of reference, to consider matters relating to
specialised areas and to advise the Board or, where appropriate,
to decide on behalf of the Board on such matters. Details of these
committees and their principal terms of reference are as follows:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 1st April 2003. Its current
members include three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors
and one (1) Non-Executive Director, who are:

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay (Chairman)

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
Company’s website at http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website.
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Board Committees (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the
Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices, making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor and any question of resignation
or dismissal, their audit fees, matters relating to the independence
of the external auditor; meeting with the external auditor to discuss
the nature and scope of the audit, and matters of concern when
requested to do so by the external auditor; reviewing the interim
financial report and annual consolidated financial statements
before they are submitted to the Board; discussing problems and
reservations arising from the interim review and final audit, and
any other matters the external auditor may wish to discuss, and
reviewing the external auditor’s letter to the management and
the management’s response; considering any major investigation
findings on internal control and risk management systems
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
the management’s response to these findings and reviewing
arrangements which employees may use, in confidence, to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control, risk management systems or other matters.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year with the external
auditor. The Audit Committee held three (3) meetings during the
year ended 31st December 2022. An attendance record of its
members at the Audit Committee meetings is set out on page 26
of this report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim financial report for
the six months ended 30th June 2022 and the audited financial
results of the Group for the year ended 31st December 2022 and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group. The
Audit Committee also reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company's internal control and risk management systems and
made recommendations to the Board. The Board has engaged an
outsourced consultant to perform internal control review services
for the Group.

The Audit Committee has full and direct access to the outsourced
internal audit consultant, reviews the reports on all audits
performed and monitors the audit performance. The Audit
Committee also reviews the adequacy of the scope, functions,
competency and resources of the outsourced internal audit
functions.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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Board Committees (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21st November
2005. Its current members include three (3) Independent Non-
Executive Directors and one (1) Non-Executive Director, who are:

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay (Chairman)

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for
reviewing the Group's remuneration policies, determining the
specific remuneration packages for Executive Directors and
senior management, including terms of salary, discretionary
bonus scheme, benefits in kind, pension rights, compensation
payments and other long-term incentive schemes, and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration of the Non-
Executive Directors and senior management. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee setting out its authority
and responsibilities are available on the Company’s website at
http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock Exchange's website.

The Remuneration Committee met once (1) in the year of 2022.
During the meeting, the committee members discussed the
policy for the remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior
management, assessed the performance of the Executive
Directors and approved the remuneration packages of the
Executive Directors. An attendance record of its members at the
Remuneration Committee meeting is set out on page 26 of this
report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 21st November
2005. Its current members include three (3) Independent Non-
Executive Directors and one (1) Non-Executive Director, who are:

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay (Chairman)

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise
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Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Board adopts a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out its approach to achieve and maintain
its diversity through consideration of a number of measurable
objectives including skills, professional experience, cultural and
educational background, gender, age, as well as other attributes
and strengths that are required for the Company’s business from
time to time. Board appointments are made on a merit basis and
candidates are considered against objective selection criteria, with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size, composition and diversity (including, without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational backgrounds,
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular
basis, reviewing the candidates’ qualification and competence
and the Board Diversity Policy, assessing the independence
of the Independent Non-Executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on appointment and re-appointment
of Directors and the requirement on board diversity, so as to ensure
that all nominations are fair and transparent. Having taken into
account the above objective criteria, the Nomination Committee
was of the view that the Company has a diverse Board. The
revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee setting
out its authority and responsibilities are available on the Company’s
website at http://perennial.todayir.com and the Stock Exchange’s
website.

The Nomination Committee met once (1) in the year of 2022.
During the meeting, the committee members discussed the
procedures and criteria which should be adopted by them in
nominating candidates for directorship and agreed that such
criteria should include the candidates’ professional background,
their financial and commercial experience and their past track
record with other listed companies (if any). Candidates who satisfy
the relevant criteria are then short-listed by the chairman of the
Nomination Committee before their nominations are proposed
to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
subsequently meets to select the final candidates and submit its
recommendation to the Board for its final approval. An attendance
record of its members at the Nomination Committee meeting is
set out on page 26 of this report.

The Company currently has four female Directors and the Board
will endeavour to at least maintain female representation on the
Board and take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.

Annual Report 2022 4F 3R

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
rEERmE (&)

ExZE2(#)

REZES (&)
EZgRPNEFEZEBRR([EEGE TR
®R]) - BRHIEBERE—RIIAEERRIAZK
REFEEFSZ T2 BERN  BXEK
B XERHEEER R FRARREART
EB MRz EMSREEZ ZAAERRE - &
EEZRETNEARE ZEE - REBEE G
BRIEA  FNEEEERHEFEZTLZE

o

BX

REZEGZIEBEATHRIETSLEE -
AE MR R Z L (BIEERRAER - Fi
MIERHBEST - AL M RER) - FBEWIR
BAZERBRENARZEESELTCBER - FE8
SIERTEENE LT REIRENEAES
URESELITENERAES SR TER - UHE
RITEREBEBAVER - KEBE A LREIZE .
REZEBERALRAREFAESEEZ 0L - 8%
ZEGZEEIRESETHEAREREE - T
B AN B4 UL (http://perennial todayir.com) & B
RPTHBL o

R-ZF-__FERNREZBEEAFM—(1)REH -
Ret ZEeKERmZRANRELRERLHER
EXRREANER - YRABEMENARREEA
MEXER  WHKEAFENEREERBEMB L
MARMEERR(NE) - FEEFFEENRE
AN BRLEZRBETFEMHERITLREALRE 2
REFEREG - REZBGHRBTERRNKR
A& YAEFERNER  MERRIE - 8
EREHFERAZEQER LCBHRNARES
268 °

ARRBRIBNARMES  EFEHBHEMR
RAMEESEPHRRE  UAERERSENRE
AFF BRI A R B R LL B -

19



20

Perennial International Limited E#B 5 E & R A A
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Board Committees (Continued)

Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee was established on 25th November
2005. Its current members include four (4) Executive Directors,
one (1) Non-Executive Director and three (3) Independent Non-
Executive Directors, who are:

Executive Directors

Mr. MON Chung Hung

Mr. SIU Yuk Shing, Marco (resigned on 22 March 2023)
Ms. MON Wai Ki, Vicky

Ms. MON Tiffany

Mr. CHAN Chun Yiu (appointed on 22 March 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

The Compliance Committee is mainly responsible for (i) reviewing
corporate communication issued by the Company so as to ensure
compliance in every respect with the listing requirements contained
in the Listing Rules; and (ii) reviewing transactions entered into by
the Company so as to ensure compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations applicable to the Company whether of Hong Kong
or elsewhere. To enhance corporate governance, the Compliance
Committee was also delegated with the responsibilities of (i)
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;
(iii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and (iv) reviewing the
Company’'s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report. Where necessary, the Compliance
Committee would seek professional advice in respect of the
requirements of the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and
regulations so as to improve the existing compliance procedures of
the Company.

The Compliance Committee held one (1) meeting during the year
ended 31st December 2022. During the meeting, the committee
members discussed the recent amendments to the Listing Rules
relating to corporate governance and resolved that more resources
should be allocated for meeting the increasingly stringent
requirements of the regulatory authorities. It was also suggested
all future amendments to the Listing Rules should be circulated to
members of the senior management so that they all understand
and can help the Company to comply with its obligations under the
Listing Rules and seminars on Listing Rules updates and corporate
governance practices should be arranged for members of the
senior management and other interested Directors. An attendance
record of its members at the Compliance Committee meeting is
set out on page 26 of this report.
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Internal Control

The Board is responsible for internal control of the Group and
for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules
and regulations. The procedures provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.

The Board has engaged an outsourced internal audit consultant to
perform independent internal control review services. Thereafter,
the outsourced consultant has assisted the Group to perform a
review of the effectiveness of internal control system for certain
selected processes. The assessment results and proposed
improvement recommendations were reported to the Audit
Committee.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed annually
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions and, in particular, consider
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function for the year ended 31st December
2022. Based on the findings of the outsourced internal audit
consultant and the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board
considers that the Group's internal control system is effective
and adequate. Areas for improvement identified and appropriate
measures taken so as to provide assurance that key business and
operational risks are identified and managed.

The key procedures that the Board has established to provide
effective internal control are as follows:

(@) a comprehensive monthly management reporting system
is in place providing financial and operational performance
indicators to the management, and the relevant financial
information for reporting and disclosure purpose;

(b)  management structure with defined roles, responsibilities
and reporting lines are established. Delegated authorities are
documented and communicated; and

(c) system and procedures are in place to identify, measure,
manage and control risks including liquidity, credit, market,
business, regulatory, operational and reputational risks that
may have an impact on the Group.
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Risk Management Function

The Group has established a robust risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and Senior
Management of the Group. The Board determines the nature and
extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and has the overall responsibility for monitoring the
overall effectiveness of risk management. The Group identifies
key risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the
Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans
are then established by the risk owners to manage the risks to
acceptable level.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed annually
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system for the
year ended 31st December 2022. Based on the findings and the
comments of the Audit Committee, the Board considers that the
Group's risk management system is effective and adequate.

External Auditor

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor
subject to endorsement by the Board and final approval and
authorisation by shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
The Audit Committee assesses the external auditor, taking into
account factors such as the performance and quality of the audit
and the objectivity and independence of auditor. The existing
auditor of the Company is PricewaterhouseCoopers who was first
appointed in 1997.

External Auditor’'s Remuneration

The Group was charged HK$1,100,000 and HK$632,000 by
PricewaterhouseCoopers for auditing and non-auditing services
respectively for the year ended 31st December 2022. The
non- auditing services mainly consist of taxation services.

Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the accounts department, is responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the Board has adopted generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong and complied with accounting standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Appropriate accounting policies have also been used and applied
consistently.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor are set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 38 to 45 of this annual
report.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
and employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, they
had complied with the required standards of the said code during
the year.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ rights
and all shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. Pursuant to
the Company’s Bye-laws, any shareholder entitled to attend and
vote at a general meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint
another person as his proxy to attend and vote instead of him. In
addition, shareholders who hold not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The
requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office
of the Company, and may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists. If the Directors do
not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of
them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three (3)
months from the said date.
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Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Moreover, shareholders who hold not less than one-twentieth
of the paid up capital of the Company or not less than 100
shareholders shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to put forward
a resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at an annual general meeting. The Company shall not
be bound to give notice of the proposed resolution or circulate a
statement with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution to shareholders unless (a) a copy of the requisition
signed by the requisitionists, or two or more copies which between
them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited
at the registered office of the Company not less than six (6) weeks
before the meeting in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution and not less than one (1) week before the meeting
in the case of any other requisition and (b) there is deposited or
tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company's expenses in giving effect thereto. If, however,
after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has
been deposited at the registered office of the Company, an annual
general meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less after the
copy has been deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
time required as referred to above shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Chairmen of the various Board committees, or failing the Chairmen,
any member from the respective committees, must attend the
annual general meetings of the Company to address shareholders’
queries. External auditor shall also be invited to attend the
Company’s annual general meetings and are available to assist the
Directors in addressing queries from shareholders relating to the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of its auditor’s
report.

For each substantially separate issue at a general meeting, a
separate resolution would be proposed. Resolutions put to the
vote at any general meeting (other than those on procedural and
administrative matters) are taken by poll. Procedures regarding
the conduct of the poll are explained to the shareholders at the
commencement of each general meeting, and questions (if any)
from shareholders regarding the voting procedures would be
answered.
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Investor Relations

The Company believes in regular and timely communication with
shareholders as part of its efforts to help shareholders understand
its business better and the way the Company operates.

To promote effective communication with the public at large,
the Company maintains a website on which comprehensive
information about the Company, its major businesses, financial
information and particulars of Directors are posted. The Company's
publications, including press releases, announcements, annual and
interim reports, shareholders circulars are being made available on
this website (http://perennial.todayir.com).

In addition, shareholders who have any enquiries regarding the
Company may send their enquiries in writing to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary who will then forward the same to the
Board and/or the relevant Board committees for response (where
appropriate). The Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considered it to be effective.

The Bye-laws of the Company is available on the websites of the
Company (http://perennial.todayir.com) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk). During the financial year ended 31st
December 2022, the Company did not make any changes to its
Bye-laws.

Company Secretary

Mr. Lai Wing Hong is the company secretary of the Company. He
has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and has taken
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
financial year ended 31st December 2022.
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Directors’ Attendance at Board, Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee,

Nomination Committee, Compliance RERAEzHETTHE
Committee and General Meetings
Audit Remuneration  Nomination ~ Compliance
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
Bzg EVZEE yizee REZES ERZEE
g3 ] g3 L ] g3 BRAE
Total number of meetings held HE-E- -
during the year ended +ZA=1+-H
31st December 2022 ILEERR{TZ
EEZ 4 3 1 1 1 1
Number of meetings attended: LESERE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. MON Chung Hung AfRIERE
(Chief Executive Officer & (TTREH R
Deputy Chairman) %) 4 N/A NEF N/A 1B N/A NEF 1 1
Mr. SIU Yuk Shing, Marco B E 4 N/A MR N/A @R N/A R 1 1
Ms. MON Wai Ki, Vicky REERT 4 N/A M N/A TER N/A 1@ 1 1
Ms. MON Tiffany EERTT 4 N/A R N/A TEf N/A 1 1
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise BHRAT(1E)
(Chairman) 4 3 1 1 1 1
Independent Non-Executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay SR & 4 3 1 1 1 1
Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones PRERE 4 3 1 1 1 1
Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying EZEut 4 3 1 1 1 1




The Board submits their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December 2022.

Principal Activities and Geographical

Analysis of Operations

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of electric cable and wire products. The activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by
geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Five Years Financial Summary
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out below:
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2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C —E-—F ZE-FTF ZT-AF ZZT-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T T T T

Revenue Was 324,524 373,472 282,342 301,357 355,744
Profit for the year EFE R 15,848 13,689 (19,231) (13,198) (1,760)
Total assets BEE 661,831 727,733 685,978 714,879 732,950
Total liabilities FEN=Er 95,726 158,675 136,698 (152,355) (154,865)
Total equity B 566,105 569,058 549,280 562,524 578,085

Analysis of the Group’s Performance
An analysis of the Group's performance is set forth in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 10 of this report.

Major Suppliers and Customers

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable to
the Group's major suppliers and customers respectively, classified
by individual entity, are as follows:

FEBZEBRADN
AEEY EBERANBRAREEOT10E2E
% -

FERERRER
AEERAEE Y EBEMERES - AERIEE
SEZRBRMEEALARIT -

Purchases ®EE
— the largest supplier — A FER
— five largest suppliers combined —hARHEREET

Sales SHE

— the largest customer —&AEF
— five largest customers combined —AAREFAF

25%
67%

28%
71%

27



28

Perennial International Limited E#B 5 E & R A A

Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Major Suppliers and Customers (Continued)
None of the directors, their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company's share capital) had
an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

Dividend Policy

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall also take into
account the following factors of the Company and its subsidiaries
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

) operating and financial results;

) cash flow situation;

) business conditions and strategies;

) future operations and earnings;

) taxation considerations;

capital requirements and expenditure plans;

interests of shareholders;

) restrictions under the Bermuda Laws and the Company’s
memorandum if association and the bye-laws of the
Company; and

(i) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 46 of this report.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.30
per ordinary share. The recommended final dividend is subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company

Principal Properties

Details of the principal properties held for the Group’'s main
operations are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes are
set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share issued in the year

No new shares were issued during the year. Details of shares
issued as at 31st December 2022 are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31st December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the laws of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$19,5610,000. In addition, the Company's
contributed surplus, amounting to HK$62,548,000 as at 31st
December 2022, is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of the contributed surplus if (i) it is, or would after the payment
be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the
net realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its share capital and share premium
account. The Company’s share premium account with a balance of
HK$15,885,000 as at 31st December 2022 is distributable in the
form of fully-paid bonus shares.

Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to approximately HK$1,194,000.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-laws and there is no restriction against such rights under the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale and Redemption of the

Company’s Listed Securities

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, more than 25% of the
Company'’s issued shares was held by the public as at 21st March
2023, being the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
annual report, in accordance with Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.
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Analysis of Bank Loans and Other

Borrowings

The Group’s bank loans and other borrowings as at 31st December
2022, in accordance with the repayment schedule (without taking
into account any repayment on demand clause), are repayable over
the following periods:

RITERRHEMEERD T

AEBRN T _F+-_A=1T—RAZRITERK
HptE5 - RIFERSRER L ZEEMIZBRKEERE
&K - AR THIHRERE

Trust receipt

Bank loans loans Total

RITER EHEBEBER 4 zE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FETT

Within 1 year 1R 19,000 3,775 22,775
Directors ==

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. MON Chung Hung
(Chief Executive Officer & Deputy Chairman)
Mr. SIU Yuk Shing, Marco (resigned on 22 March 2023)
Ms. MON Wai Ki, Vicky
Ms. MON Tiffany
Mr. CHAN Chun Yiu (appointed on 22 March 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. KOO Di An, Louise (Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LAU Chun Kay

Mr. LEE Chung Nai, Jones

Ms. CHUNG Kit Ying

Mr. MON Chung Hung, Mr. LAU Chun Kay and Mr. LEE Chung
Nai, Jones will retire in accordance with clause 111 of the
Company's Bye-laws at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting
of the Company. All of them, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive and independent
non-executive director is not more than three years and subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management
The biographical details of the directors and senior management
of the Company are set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Mon Chung Hung, aged 72, is the founder of the Group,
the Chief Executive Officer, the Deputy Chairman, an Executive
Director, Authorised Representative and a member of the
compliance committee of the Board. Mr. Mon has over 44 years of
experience in the electric cable and wire industry. He is responsible
for the Group’s overall strategic planning and policy making. Mr.
Mon is a director of Spector Holdings Limited, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. He is also the husband of Ms. Koo Di
An, Louise and the father of Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky and Ms. Mon
Tiffany.

Mr. Siu Yuk Shing, Marco, aged 63, is an Executive Director,
Authorised Representative and a member of the compliance
committee of the Board. He joined the Group in 1989. Mr. Siu has
over 34 years of experience in the electric cable and wire industry.
Mr. Siu is also the Sales Director of the Group and is responsible
for sales of the Group's products and product development.

Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky, aged 48, is an Executive Director and a
member of the compliance committee of the Board. She graduated
from the Central Queensland University in Australia with a Bachelor
of Communications degree. She joined the Group in 2004. As the
Marketing Executive, she participates in developing marketing
strategies. She is the daughter of Mr. Mon Chung Hung and Ms.
Koo Di An, Louise, and the elder sister of Ms. Mon Tiffany.

Ms. Mon Tiffany, aged 42, is an Executive Director and a member
of the compliance committee of the Board. She holds a bachelor’s
double major degree in economics and management from the
University of Sydney, Australia, Diploma in Company Direction from
Hong Kong Institute of Directors, and “"RSSGB" certification from
Six Sigma Institute. She joined the Group in 2002. As the Marketing
Communications Manager, she coordinates marketing strategies
and is also responsible for the information system of the Company.
She is the daughter of Mr. Mon Chung Hung and Ms. Koo Di An,
Louise, and the younger sister of Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky.
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EEHE(E)

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management (Continued)

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Koo Di An, Louise, aged 71, is the Chairman, a Non- Executive
Director, the chairman of the compliance committee and a
member of the audit, remuneration and nomination committees
of the Board. She joined the Group in 1989. Ms. Koo is a director
of Spector Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of the
Company. She is also the wife of Mr. Mon Chung Hung and the
mother of Ms. Mon Wai Ki, Vicky and Ms. Mon Tiffany.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Kay, B.Sc., MBA, M.A., aged 74, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director, the chairman of the audit, remuneration
and nomination committees and a member of the compliance
committee of the Board. He joined the Group in 1996. Mr. Lau is
a registered professional engineer and holds a master’s degree
in business administration and a bachelor’'s degree in electrical
engineering from the University of Hong Kong, and a master
degree in history and a master degree in Philosophy from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lau is a Life President of the
Hong Kong Electrical Contractors Association, and a past President
and current Secretary General of The Federation of Asian and
Pacific Electrical Contractors Associations. He is also the Executive
Director of the Hong Kong Federation of Electrical and Mechanical
Contractors. He has over 51 years of experience in management
and engineering.

Mr. Lee Chung Nai, Jones, aged 74, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of the audit, remuneration,
nomination and compliance committees of the Board. He joined
the Group in 2010. Mr. Lee has over 40 years of experience in
international trade in toys, among which Mr. Lee had also operated
a toys factory with 2,000 workers in China for 10 years. Mr. Lee
had also operated a subsidiary company in Hong Kong for a listed
company in Australia. Mr. Lee has his own toy company.

Ms. Chung Kit Ying, aged 48, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the audit, remuneration, nomination
and compliance committee of the Board. She joined the Group
in December 2017. Ms. Chung obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Business Administration and a degree of Master of Science in
Finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1997 and
2007, respectively. Ms. Chung has worked in an international firm
of certified public accountants and the finance department of a
listed group, and has over 24 years of experience in accounting
and auditing. Ms. Chung is a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA") and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA").
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management (Continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Wong Andy Tze On, aged 55, is the Chief Financial Officer
(the “CFQ"). He joined the Group in November 2021. Mr. Wong
has over 25 years of experience in financial management of
multinational corporations. He was formally an executive director
and the CFO of a locally listed electronic manufacturing group with
operations in the US, and production facilities on Mainland China
and Indonesia from 1997 to 2019. From August 2020 to September
2021, Mr. Wong was the CFO, authorised representative and
Company Secretary of another listed company. Mr. Wong
holds a business degree in accounting from Curtin University
of Technology, Western Australia. He is a member of the CPA
Australia, the Association of Chinese Internal Auditors and the Pan-
Asia Risk and Insurance Management Association.

Mr. Chan Chun Yiu, aged 51, is the Group's Manufacturing
Manager and is responsible for quality management and
manufacturing engineering. He joined the Group in 1997, holds a
Bachelor degree and Master degree in Mechanical Engineering
and has over 26 years of experience in the electric cable and
wire industry. Mr. Chan has been a director of a major operating
subsidiary of the Company for five years.

Mr. Mon Derek, aged 35, joined the group in 2013 and is the
Group’s sales and marketing manager. He is a director of two fully-
owned subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from University
of Sydney with a Bachelor of Science and Technology. He
obtained "RLSGB" certification from Six Sigma institute. Being the
Group's sales representative, he also participates in new product
development and product sales. Mr. Mon Derek is the son of Mr.
Mon Chung Hung and Ms. Koo Di An, Louise, the brother of Ms.
Mon Wai Ki, Vicky and Ms. Mon Tiffany.

Mr. Lai Wing Hong, aged 45, is the Finance Manager and Company
Secretary of the Company. He is a fellow member of the HKICPA
and a fellow member of the ACCA. He holds a Bachelor (Honours)
Degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and a Master Degree in Business Administration from the Holmes
Institute. Mr. Lai joined the Group in March 2019 and is responsible
for finance functions and the Company Secretary work. He has
over 21 years of experience in auditing and accounting including
being the company secretary and the senior financial executive of a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Directors’ Material Interests in
Transactions, Arrangements and Contracts
that are Significant in Relation to the

Group’s Business

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which its holding company or
the Company’s subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director
of the Company and the directors’ connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares,

Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31st December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFQ™)), which were required (i) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii)
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company
(the “Shares”)
Long Positions in Shares

EEREAREXRBRERNERZ
X5 RERGHNZEAER

PR A RIS AR A B B R RN R SR R AR B
FAEARETE  BRAKEXGASEARMEN
ETEARRIZESNES L MEN HRARERE
BEARDRZEARS  RHERAH
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PIESTEFHFRAEEO([FHERBEEG DS
XVEB) A ()R IR 55 M B E G S XVER SR 7 K85
EHAEMEARNE MBRTAERS AR (BIEER
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AATER0.10B T 2EBR( KRS D)
RG24 &

Total
interests
Number of shares as % of the
R EE relevant
Personal Family Corporate Total issued share
Name interests interests interests interests capital
R (LR
BRITRA
HA BAER RikfEs EE R BrE ZEDE
MON Chung Hung - - 147,252,000 147,252,000 74.01%
T iRE (note 1)
(P5E1)
KOO Di An, Louise - 147,252,000 - 147,252,000 74.01%
R (note 2)
(MtEE2)
LAU Chun Kay 138,000 - - 138,000 0.07%

B ¥ 2




Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

(Continued)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the Company

(the “Shares”) (Continued)

Long Positions in Shares (Continued)

Note 1: The 147,252,000 Shares were held in the name of Spector
Holdings Limited (“Spector Holdings") which is beneficially owned
as to 99.9% by Mr. Mon Chung Hung and as to the remaining
0.1% by Ms. Koo Di An, Louise. Therefore, Mr. Mon is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Spector Holdings. Each of Mr.
Mon and Ms. Koo is a director of Spector Holdings.

Note 2: Ms. Koo is the wife of Mr. Mon and is thus deemed to be

interested in the Shares in which Mr. Mon is deemed to be

interested.

Interest in Shares of Associated Corporation of the Company

Name of associated
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MizE1 : b 147,252,000 A% 5 LA Spector Holdings
Limited ([ Spector Holdings |) &% &6 + %
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Approximate %
of shareholding
in associated
corporation

Name of Director corporation Capacity HEEEEE
EspAg HEEE AR 514 ZBREZBEDHL
Mr. Mon Spector Holdings Beneficial owner 99.9%
wEE EREFBAA
Ms. Koo Spector Holdings Beneficial owner 0.1%
B2+ BERFAA

All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save as
disclosed above, as at 31st December 2022, none of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO or to be entered in the register referred to
therein pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO.

Other than those disclosed above, at no time during the year ended
31st December 2022 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company or any of their associates to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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EEHE(E)

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the
Share Capital of the Company

As at 31st December 2022, as far as known to the Directors, the
following person (other than the Directors and chief executives
of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRAQRARARN 2 Em

R —F+-A=+—8 BESHMHA AT
AT (BARREZEREBITHRABIN RRRMDSAE
RO ERRIEES LB EXVEE2 X35
ERZAMIZAR R B PR SR IR 35 5 M B E 14 1) 5 336 1k
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Total

interests

Number of Shares as % of the

RoEE relevant

Personal Family Corporate Other Total issued share

Name interests interests interests interests interests capital

BRERIEEERE

2EITRA

#®E Bz RikfEs EE R HithEzs MR ZBDH

Spector Holdings 147,252,000 - - 147,252,000 74.01%
Limited (note 1)
(B5E1)

Note 1: Spector Holdings is owned as t0 99.9% by Mr. Mon and as to the ~ [ff#F 1 : Spector Holdings & A MBLZ T o R A

remaining 0.1% by Ms. Koo.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. Save as
disclosed above, as at 31st December 2022, the Directors are not
aware of any other person who had an interest or a short position
in the Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business
None of the Directors has an interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group.

Business Review
Business review of the Group is set forth in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 6 to 10 of this report.
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Permitted Indemnity Provisions

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity
provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of
the Company (whether made by the Company or otherwise) or an
associated company (if made by the Company).

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Koo Di An, Louise
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21st March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 3 B BT ] S

To the Shareholders of Perennial International Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Perennial International
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 46 to 131, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
December 2022;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31st December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Basis for Opinion (Continued)

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as follows:

° Valuation for land and buildings and investment properties
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Key Audit Matter
AEETSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RO EFT A EEEARENSE

Valuation for land and buildings and investment
properties

T RBFRREYRNMEE

Refer to notes 2.6, 2.7, 4.2, 15(c) and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BLMGRAMIEHERNTE26 2.7 4.2 15(c) )16 °

We obtained an understanding of the management's
internal control and assessment process of valuation for
land and buildings and investment properties and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors.

B TRERBEHN T MEF RIREMENBEN AP
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We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the valuers by verifying their qualifications, discussing
the scope of their work and reviewing the terms of their
engagements.
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We carried out procedures to test whether property-
specific standing data supplied to the valuers by
management reflected the underlying property records
held by the Group.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

AEETSER(E)

Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ET NAEEERENSE

The Group owns land and buildings in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Vietnam for office premises and
manufacturing plants respectively, and owns investment
properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China for
investment purpose (together, the “Properties”). These
are classified as property, plant and equipment and
investment properties according to their use and, their
carrying values are HK$334.5 million and HK$47.2 million as
at 31st December 2022 respectively. For the year ended
31st December 2022, revaluation deficit of HK$1.5 million
relating to land and buildings classified as property, plant
and equipment and revaluation loss of HK$0.4 million
relating to the investment properties are recorded in the
consolidated income statement, and a revaluation surplus
of HK$19.7 million relating to land and buildings classified
as property, plant and equipment is recorded in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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The valuations of these Properties are inherently subjective
due to, among other factors, the individual nature of each
property and its location.
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The valuations of these Properties were carried out by
independent professional qualified valuers.

B S E T B T B A B ERRT o

We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions
and inputs used by the valuers by performing market
research on comparable transactions available for
properties located in Hong Kong, the average cost of
construction and useful life for the properties located
in Mainland China and Vietnam and the rental price per
square metre of the investment property in Mainland
China.
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SRR RAIEAF AR P BEAREREME G T RS
BIRETTIRMR - SHEEERAANEERIL2ENE
Bt o

We concluded that the assumptions used in the valuations
were supportable in light of the available evidence.

ERFENER - ZARSEEMBNRRBHEE -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
B ZEE RS (&)

AEETSER(E)

Key Audit Matter
HARETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ET NAEEREARENSE

Properties in Hong Kong were valued using the market
approach where comparison based on prices realised
on actual sales of comparable properties was made and
adjusted for key difference in key attributes such as size,
character and location. Factory buildings in Mainland China
and Vietnam were valued using depreciated replacement
cost approach with reference to the cost to reproduce
or replace in accordance with current construction costs
for similar buildings and structures in the locality, with
allowance for accrued depreciation as evidenced by
observed condition or obsolescence present. Investment
property in Mainland China is valued using income
approach with reference to the rental price per square
metre of the property.

R BB ZEYHE AT ZETHE - EFR2ZER LR
EXRZEWRFZEAZ(FIAEBEAD - B K0 E) &N E
e A E AR o A BIARE RimEe) THEFHE - R
B R B ARV F R ENREN R - BEEETE
MK ARLE - MRREFEXNNEETE - Wat A
RIFH RN IR SR ER M 2 EFHTERAE - PEIKER
RENMFERBWRE EZ2ENEF T AHEBRETHE -

The significance of the estimates and judgements involved
warrants specific audit focus in this area.
HREEREFRIS RO RAB+SEE - HEFER
BOEZTEETRULEE -
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
BUZERRE (&)

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in Perennial
International Limited 2022 annual report (but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon),
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the
environmental, social and governance report (the “ESG report”) for
the year 2022, which is expected to be made available to us after
that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not and will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. VWWe have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the ESG report for the year 2022, if we conclude
that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

Hft 55
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Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial

Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of

the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
B ZEE RS (&)
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
BUZERRE (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. WWe remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Kam Chiu, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21st March 2023
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mEBRBER

For the year ended 31st December 2022

Bz —F - —F+-_A=+—HIFEF

2022 2021
—E-CF T
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B s FET FAET
Revenue Wz 5 324,524 373,472
Cost of sales SHE A (249,958) (293,554)
Gross profit EA 74,566 79,918
Other income H b das 6 9,259 7,735
Distribution expenses vaki=|iab-d (7,709) (9,084)
Administrative expenses THAX (56,941) (58,032)
Other operating expenses, net HAbZ & F ST 7 (315) (4,906)
Reversal of impairment loss on trade g Z IR R ERE
receivables £ [0l 3.1(iv) 1 727
Operating profit Syl 8 18,871 16,358
Finance costs B 7% & A 9 (1,960) (1,262)
Profit before taxation B A& A 16,911 15,096
Income tax FrS i 10(a) (1,063) (1,407)
Profit for the year attributable to AARRREHAFE
shareholders of the Company il 15,848 13,689
Basic and diluted earnings per share FREARREERF
(cents) (f) 11 8.0 6.9

The above consolidated income statement should be read in  _Fill4R& B2 R FEE RREMI = — HTEI:E -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEHEWE R

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit for the year NEEm 15,848 13,689
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hib2mikas (BXK) :
ltem that will not be reclassified RN E P E b
subsequently to profit or loss mIEH
Revaluation surplus/(deficit) on land and T REFZEERE S
buildings, net of tax (E4L) - $0BRFHIAE 16,272 (5,891)
ltem that may be reclassified to ARt EFLEEERN
profit or loss BH
Exchange difference arising from ME AR Bz
translation of financial statements of HRZERZR
subsidiaries (31,094) 11,980
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for REEEMEE(ER),
the year e (14,822) 6089
Total comprehensive income for the year RARIRREEREE
attributable to shareholders of the Company Rl 1,026 19,778

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income  _EiliARé & UGS 3R FEZE (R BE T BT 55 — RIS -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B B ISR R &

As at 31st December 2022
RZFE-ZZ#F+-_H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
MI5E FET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EmENEE
Property, plant and equipment L E YN L] 15 380,784 406,112
Investment properties WEME 16 47,154 43,100
Non-current deposits EMENE] & 239 234
Deferred tax assets BEEFITBE = 10(b) 7,368 7,443
435,545 456,889
Current assets MENEE
Inventories TE 17 146,106 161,542
Trade and bill receivables Z 5 e zkaE I e Uk
EE 18 52,159 78,010
Derivative financial instruments PTESHBT A 19 1,100 28
Other receivables, deposits and H o « 518
prepayments MIER IR 5,809 11,551
Taxation recoverable AUk [EF IR 64 405
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 20 21,048 19,308
226,286 270,844

Total assets BB E 661,831 727,733
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

RaPBIRE (&)

As at 31st December 2022
RZFEZZF+-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF T
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
MI5E FET FHET
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to shareholders of KA EIIRCR (GRS
the Company
Share capital % 21 19,896 19,896
Reserves (G 546,209 549,162
Total equity BiE 566,105 569,058
LIABILITIES &fE
Non-current liabilities EMBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 15(b) - 77
Deferred tax liabilities RIETHIABE 10(b 39,055 37,650
39,055 37,727
Current liabilities mENEE
Trade payables B ST 3RIE 22 11,684 22,714
Other payables, accruals and HABFETFRIA - FEGT
contract liabilities A RaHasE 22 17,794 19,337
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 77 454
Taxation payable FEIS IR 4,341 4,071
Bank loans RITERK 23 19,000 60,000
Trust receipt loans SRR ER 23 3,775 14,372
_____ 56,671 ______..120948
Total liabilities A= 95,726 158,675
Total equity and liabilities g MR A E 661,831 727,733

The consolidated financial statements on pages 46 to 131 were F46E2 131 B2 G AR REN -_E-_=F= 7
approved by the Board of Directors on 21st March 2023 and were —+—BA&EESHETAREE -
signed on its behalf.

MON Chung Hung SIU Yuk Shing, Marco
=R FRIBEL
Director Director

EF o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be — _E#ltAR& BAFSAR L 3% 22 (R B8 P Bl 55 — F RO RE -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

Reserves
e
Land and
Exchange building Capital
Share Share  fluctuation  revaluation  redemption Retained Total Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings reserves equity
1H#R
EX  BYEf Bk
kx  ROEE  29%E fE  EERE  REEN Btk s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén THR Tén Tén THR Tén T THR
As at 1st January 2022 R-E-"%-F-H 19,896 15,885 21,102 228,603 104 277,468 549,162 569,058
Comprehensive income 2ENG
Profit for the year RERRT - - - - - 15,848 15,848 15,848
Other comprehensive AtaEks/ (BX)
income/floss)
Revaluation surplus onland ~ THIREF 2 E B
and building - - - 19,703 - - 19,703 19,703
Deferred tax charged to ThASEGEEELTE
revaluation reserve - - - (3431) - - (3431) (3431)
Exchange difference arising R ESMHILEMELE 2
fom translation of foreign ~ EXZ%
operations - - (31,094) - - - (31,094) (31,004)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ ~ AEE@B2E (%) /s
income for the year - - (31,094) 16,272 - 15,848 1,026 1,026
Transaction with owners ~~ EEAARS
Dividend paid (note 10] ERRE(HE10) - - - - - (3,979) (3979) (3,979)
Asat31st December 2022 M=E-—#+-F=1-H 19,896 15,885 (3,992) 244,875 104 289,337 546,209 566,105
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
BARNEDE(E

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BrE T - —Ff+ A=+ —HIFE

Reserves
iG]
Land and
Exchange building Capital
Share Share  fluctuation  revaluation  redemption Retained Total Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve eamings reserves equity
TR
Ex  BFEf BA
ke RAEE  2BEG fE  EORG  RERA B iR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL TEn TEL ThR Thn TER ThR ThT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERNER

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2022 2021
—E-C—F T
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
BfaE FET FAET
Cash flows from operating activities EEIHNESRE
Net cash generated from/(used in) EEELE(FTR)MF
operations Re 25(a) 63,807 (21,044)
Hong Kong profits tax (paid)/ (Bff) REFEFE
refunded, net A (219) 327
Overseas income tax paid, net SADBINTIS R R (1,712) (1,118)
Interest paid XAFLE (1,960) (1,262)
Net cash generated from/(used in) wiEEsELE(FTA)
operating activities HFIRS 59,916 (23,097)
Cash flows from investing activities RETFHNEERE
Purchase of property, plant and EEMZE - BB k&
equipment (1,673) (9,190)
Deposits paid for additions of property, XAREWZE - BER
plant and equipment B:Hsa - (20)
Interest received I B R B, 31 13
Proceeds from sale of property, plantand HEYIE - BRE k&G
equipment JFIECEN 25(b) 21 801
Net cash used in investing activities KB EBFTAN TS (1,621) (8,396)
Cash flows from financing activities BETFNEERE
Additions of bank loans FTILIRITE N 25(d) 62,000 35,000
Repayments of bank loans EEBITER 25(d) (103,000) (12,200)
Net (repayment)/addition of trust receipt & (fE1&) /FriZ{=3E Uk
loans BE® 25(d) (10,597) 5,845
Payments for principal portion of the lease X fIHE & EARE D
liabilities 25(d) (454) (445)
Dividend paid to the Company's ERAARREARE
shareholders 12 (3,979) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from mEFRE(FTA)EL
financing activities mFERe (56,030) 28,200
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and REeERESEEYZF
cash equivalents #m, R 2,265 (3,293)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January WR—HA—BZHE& KR
SEEY 19,308 22,370
Exchange difference on cash and cash ReERBEEBYME
equivalents HER (525) 231
Cash and cash equivalents R+-A=+—RHA=zH®
at 31st December SRIAEZEY 20 21,048 19,308
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in 4R A IR & R E R EERBEM I E—FFEIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General Information

Perennial International Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the manufacturing and trading of electric cable and wire
products.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") unless otherwise stated.

Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial information of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of land and buildings
and investment properties and derivative instruments,
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial information
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

e BHRRNE

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

—RER

EHEEERATN(ART ) BREZRA
A ARAIRAKBA R (S ARE ) E
SR FREREEBRRESER ©

ARRRBREAMKZA—HBERAA
H S 3% =5 R 89 Hb 3iE A Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE_E_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. TEEHBERBME(E)
Policies (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 Bt BEREENES

disclosures

New and amended standards adopted by the Group A BB AN FET 2 Al | ZE RIS RT AR

The following new and amended standards have been AEEER=ZE-—_F—A—Hzlzi&

adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial FA R BEE BB 2R 2R

year beginning on or after 1st January 2022: NMZERHERT AN -

Amendments to Annual Improvements Project Annual improvements of HKFRSs 2018-2020

FEBCERT B (BETA) —NEE_Z_TEFBMBWMERER 2 FEBCE

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: proceeds before
intended use

BB GEHERIE 165k (BFTA) M - B NERE - (ERE R ATEV TS SKIA

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract

BB G EREI7HR(BETA) BREMEEX —BITE B

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the conceptual framework

BB REERFEIFRETA) SRR AR

Accounting Guideline 5 (Amendments) Revised accounting guideline 5 merger accounting for
common control combinations (AG 5)

EEEcElE T ACCHEN) T e eS| Eo R EREHI a HNEaHEA(FET
¥53515855%)

The adoption of the new and amended standards listed BN E55ET RS ET AR B 1 AR

above did not have material impact on the amounts Eﬁﬁu e REWEEANTE  WIEHT

recognised in prior periods and are not expected to SHAHFESCRREB B EATE °

significantly affect the current or future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. TEEHBERBME(E)
Policies (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12
BB GRTERIFE 1255 (BFTA)
HKFRS 17

BB BHREERE1T75%
HKFRS 17

BRI EERNF175R

Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

BEREERUETAR)

Amendments to HKAS 1

EREHEREVRUERTA)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 EHRREENESS (&)
disclosures (Continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations i SR ER AN BV ET AT ZE B R E AEET R R 32
not yet adopted =
Certain new accounting standards, amendments to ETEBRMGELIFER - -_—_F+=A
accounting standards and interpretations have been =+ — B ¥R AR sR HI A AT AT Mg
published that are not mandatory for 31st December BRI 2t EA kR R EREEIRE
2022 reporting period and have not been early adopted R4 o
by the Group.
Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
AT AR 2 ZRBE
FEMBEX
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Disclosure of accounting policies 1st January 2023
Practice Statement 2
BALTENF IR EEBYBREE SHBR HE —T-=#—H—H
BIERSERR 25 (1BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of accounting estimates 1st January 2023
BREGETERFESHE(BETA) SEHMETIZER —=-=%—H—H

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities 1st January 2023
arising from a single transaction

HE-ZHEANEERAGEBNELE —T_=F—HF—H
A

Insurance contracts 1st January 2023
RigE & —E-=%—A—H

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 1st January 2023
9 — Comparative information

BRI EERE17H R —T-=%—HA—H
BEBVBRELENFES R
Z A — LB ER

Classification by the borrower of a term 1st January 2024
loan that contains a repayment on
demand clause

B A S P 75 3R 2= BN AR R 5 —E-mME—HA—H
ERmoH

Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1st January 2024
Non-current

BESBRRBHIERD —ZT_mME—A—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. TEEHBERBME(E)
Policies (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and 22 EHRREENESS (&)
disclosures (Continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations i SR ER ANV ET AT ZE R R ZE ARSI AR R 32
not yet adopted (Continued) B(E&)

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after
R T 5B Esk 2 BRI
FEHBEXR
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1st January 2024
BREGEERFE 1R USETAR) MR R SERE B & - —H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1st January 2024
BB G165 BERAEARMEERE =& —H—H
(&1 A)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or contribution of assets between To be confirmed by the
HKAS 28 an investor and its associate or joint HKICPA
venture
BERYBREENFI10REELSST BREFZHHBEARSIGECECHNE FEASFNAE
AERIZE285R (IEE]A) ENEsEE T E
The Group will adopt the new standards, amendments REEERIFE] RIS RTER KRR E
or interpretations when they become effective. B AN LAl 518 o R E B Fe RS
The Group has already commenced an assessment FRANA_E 3R] RAERT LR K2 AR
of the related impact of adopting the above new B2 BT SHASENLRS I
standards, amendments or interpretations, none of MFERERFE o

which is expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.3

24

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred assets. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’'s net assets
including goodwill.
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For the year ended 31st December 2022
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Perennial International Limited E#B % E B R A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE_E_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.5 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker.

2.6 Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which
is the Company's functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rate are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated income statement
on a net basis within other operating expenses,
net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at an average
exchange rate (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effects of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses and translated of the date of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as
part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.7 Investment properties
Investment properties are land and/or buildings that are
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation
which include property interest held under operating
lease carried at fair value. Land held under operating
lease is accounted for as investment property when the
rest of the definition of an investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost,
including related transaction costs.

e M mRME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.7 Investment properties (Continued)
After initial recognition, investment property is carried
at fair value representing open market value determined
at each reporting date by external independent valuers.
Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or
condition of the specific asset. If the information is not
available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods
such as income approach. Changes in fair values are
recognised in the consolidated income statement
as part of a valuation gain or loss in ‘other operating
expenses, net'.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

2.8 Property, plant and equipment
(i) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets consist of leasehold land in
Hong Kong measured at fair value, land use rights
in Mainland China and Vietnam stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses and leased property in Hong
Kong measured in accordance with accounting
policy as disclosed in note 2.8. The above right-
of-use assets are presented as the corresponding
underlying assets of the property, plant and
equipment.

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on
revaluation of leasehold land in Hong Kong are
recognised, net of tax, in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in land and building
revaluation reserve. To the extent that the
increase reverses a decrease previously
recognised in consolidated income statement, the
increase is first recognised in consolidated income
statement. Decreases that reverse previous
increases of the same asset are first recognised
in other comprehensive income to the extent of
the remaining surplus attributable to the asset,
all other decreases are charged to consolidated
income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.8 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Buildings

Buildings comprise of office in Hong Kong
and factories in Mainland China and Vietnam
which are shown at fair value, based on annual
valuations by external independent valuers, less
subsequent depreciation and impairment. Any
accumulated depreciation and impairment at the
date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is
restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on
revaluation of buildings are recognised, net of tax,
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in land and building revaluation reserve. To the
extent that the increase reverses a decrease
previously recognised in consolidated income
statement, the increase is first recognised in
consolidated income statement. Decreases that
reverse previous increases of the same asset are
first recognised in other comprehensive income
to the extent of the remaining surplus attributable
to the asset; all other decreases are charged to
consolidated income statement.

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment, comprising
leasehold improvements, plant and machinery,
furniture and fixtures, office equipment, motor
vehicles and pleasure boats are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Construction-in-progress is stated at cost which
comprises construction costs, purchase costs and
other related expenses incurred in connection
with the construction of buildings, leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery for own use,
less provision for impairment losses, if any. On
completion, construction in progress is transferred
to the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.8 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(iv)

Depreciation

Depreciation on leasehold land in Hong Kong and
buildings is calculated to write off their valuation
less accumulated impairment losses on a straight-
line basis over the unexpired period of the leases
or their estimated useful lives, whichever is
shorter. The principal annual rates used range
from 1.5% to 4%.

Land use rights in Mainland China and Vietnam
are depreciated over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

Other property, plant and equipment except
construction in progress are depreciated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs less accumulated
impairment losses over their estimated useful
lives on a reducing balance basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 15%-20%
Plant and machinery 15%-20%
Furniture and fixtures 15%-20%
Office equipment 15%-20%
Motor vehicles 15%-20%
Pleasure boats 10%

No depreciation is provided for construction-in-
progress until they are completed and put into
production ready for their intended use, upon
which they will be transferred to property, plant
and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.8 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Others

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount. These are included in the consolidated
income statement and are recognised within ‘other
operating expenses, net'. Where revalued assets
are sold, the amounts included in land and building
revaluation reserve are transferred to retained
earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.9 Leases

(i)

The Group as a Lessee

The Group as a lessee recognises a right-of-
use asset and a lease liability when a lease is
capitalised at the commencement date, except
for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
(“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value
assets. Payments in relation to short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis
over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of lease payments payable with
reference to an expected lease term, which
includes optional lease periods when the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option to
extend or not to terminate the lease. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. Lease
payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable payments that
depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected
to be payable under residual value guarantees and
payments arising from options reasonably certain
to be exercised. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and are
expensed in the period to which they relate.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing its carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability (using the effective interest
rate method) and by reducing its carrying amount
to reflect the lease payments made. The lease
liability is remeasured (with a corresponding
adjustment made to the related right-of-use asset)
when there is a change in future lease payments
in case of renegotiation, changes of an index or
rate or in case of reassessment of options.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.9

2.10

Leases (Continued)

(i) The Group as a Lessee (Continued)
The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs
incurred, the obligation to restore the asset,
and any lease payments made in advance of
the commencement date less any incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation,
applying the depreciation requirements in HKAS
16 Property, Plant and Equipment and is subject to
impairment review whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

(ii) The Group as a Lessor
Lease payments from properties letting under
operating leases are recognised as rental income
over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset'’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Such impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.11 Financial assets

(i)

(ii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss);
and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
FVPL are expensed in the consolidated income
statement.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories in which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in consolidated income
statement and presented in other operating
expenses, net together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt instrument
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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For the year ended 31st December 2022
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.11 Financial assets (Continued)
(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

Impairment on these financial assets are
measured as either 12-month expected credit
losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables. See
note 3.1(iv) for further details.

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
Group has also entered into arrangements that do not
meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the
related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances,
such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

2.13 Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Assets and liabilities are
classified as current if expected to be settled within 12
months; otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
the derivatives are presented in the profit or loss within
‘other operating expenses, net’ in the period in which
they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.14

2.15

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs are assigned to individual items
on the first-in, first-out basis and are arrived at as
follows:

(i) Raw materials purchased for use in the
manufacturing process — invoiced price and
shipping cost.

(i)~ Work in progress and finished manufactured
goods — costs of direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of production overheads.

(i) Finished goods purchased for resale — invoiced
price and shipping cost.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less applicable variable
selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measure them
subsequently at amortised cost using effective interest
method. See note 18 for further information about
the Group's accounting for trade receivables and note
2.10(iv) for a description of the Group’s impairment
policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits
held at call with financial institutions that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
bank overdrafts with original maturities of three months
or less.

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. The fee is deferred until the draw
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (Continued)

2.19

2.20

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to
the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payment is
recognised as a liability and an expense when
the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plan
are expected to be settled within twelve months
and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.
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For the year ended 31st December 2022
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.20 Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Retirement benefit costs
The Group operates several defined contribution
schemes.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods.

For Hong Kong employees, the Group contributes
to Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") scheme in
accordance with Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to
the MPF scheme by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’
remuneration received. The Group's contributions
to MPF scheme are expensed as incurred. The
assets of the MPF scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

For employees in Mainland China and Vietnam,
the Group contributes to a defined contribution
retirement scheme managed by the local
municipal government in Mainland China and
Vietnam. The Group's contributions to the
retirement scheme are expensed as incurred
while the local municipal government in Mainland
China and Vietnam undertakes to assume that
the retirement benefit obligations of the qualified
employees in Mainland China and Vietnam.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period in the countries where the Company and
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is
determined assuming the property will be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
221 Current and deferred income tax
(Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and where the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intend either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in
consolidated income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

2.22 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
management’s best estimate of the expenditures
required to settle the obligation present at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (Continued)
2.23 Revenue recognition

2.24

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the
products has transferred to the customers at
a point in time, being when the products are
delivered to the customer, the customer has full
discretion over the channel and price to sell the
products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs when the products have
been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have
lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.
As receivable is recognised when the goods
are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method.

Operating lease rental income
Operating lease rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.
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3. Financial Risk Management
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of
the Group.

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed
to foreign currency risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to
Renminbi (“RMB"), Vietnamese Dong (“VND")
and United States Dollar (“US$"). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations. In addition,
the conversion of RMB and VND are subject to
the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by Mainland China monetary
authority and Vietnam government respectively.

To manage the foreign exchange risk arising from
future commercial transactions and recognised
assets and liabilities, the Group enters into foreign
exchange forward contracts with external financial
institutions.

Should RMB strengthened/weakened by 5%
(2021: 5%) during the year ended 31st December
2022 against the HK$, with all other variables held
constant, the impact of the profit after taxation
for the year would have been approximately
HK$432,000 higher/lower (2021: approximately
HK$629,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of
RMB denominated receivables and payables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

Should VND strengthened/weakened by
5% (2021: 5%) during the year ended 31st
December 2022 against the HK$/US$, with all
other variables held constant, the impact of the
profit after taxation for the year would have been
approximately HK$649,000 lower/higher (2021:
approximately HK$1,171,000 lower/higher), mainly
as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
translation of VND denominated receivables and
payables.

Certain of the assets of the Group are
denominated in US$ but the foreign exchange risk
is considered not significant as HK$ exchange rate
is pegged to USS$.

The foreign exchange risk on financial assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other than
RMB, VND and US$ are insignificant to the Group.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the market
price of major raw materials such as copper rods
and chemicals to make plastic resins.

The Group is able to pass certain realised price
gains and losses on raw materials to certain
customers through price adjustments, which
can mitigate the price risk. The Group has not
used any derivative instruments to hedge such
economic exposures.

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
which is partially offset by cash held at variable
rates. Details of the Group’s borrowings have
been disclosed in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group has not used any hedging arrangement
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

The sensitivity analysis presents the effects on
the Group’s profit after taxation for the year as a
result of changes in interest expense on floating
rate borrowings. The sensitivity to interest rate
used is based on market forecasts available
at the reporting date and under the economic
environments in which the Group operates, with
other variables held constant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Based on the analysis performed, the impact
on the profit after taxation of a 100 basis-point
increase/decrease in interest rate would be a
decrease/increase (2021: decrease/increase) of
HK$527,000 and HK$659,000 for the years ended
31st December 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from trade and bills receivables,
other receivables, and favourable derivative
financial instrument and deposits placed with
banks.

Risk management
Credit risk is managed on a group basis.

For the favourable financial derivatives and
deposits placed with banks and financial
institutions, only independently rated parties with
acceptable rating quality is accepted.

Risk control assesses the credit quality of the
customer, taking into account its financial position,
past experience and other factors. Individual risk
limits are set based on internal or external ratings
in accordance with limits set by the Group. The
compliance with credit limits by customers is
regularly monitored by the Group.

The Group has policies in place to ensure sales
are made to customers with appropriate credit
terms and the Group performs periodic credit
check with reference to credit rating performed by
external agents.

The Group has concentration of credit risk.
Sales made to the top 5 customers amounted
to approximately HK$230,222,000 (2021:
HK$259,352,000), representing 71% (2021: 69%)
of total revenue for the year. The total accounts
receivable balance of these top 5 customers as at
31st December 2022 was HK$35,219,000 (2021:
HK$52,741,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iv)

Credit risk (Continued)

Risk management (Continued)

The Group has four types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

o Bill receivables
° Cash at bank
° Trade receivables

° Other financial assets at amortised cost

Cash at bank

As at 31st December 2022, most of the bank
deposits are deposited with reputable banks in
Mainland China, Vietnam and Hong Kong. The
credit quality of cash at bank has been assessed
by reference to external credit ratings or to
historical information about the counterparty
default rates. The existing counterparties do not
have default in the past. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made as at
31st December 2022.

Trade and bill receivables
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measures expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade and bill receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade and
bill receivables have been grouped by invoice date
and based on shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a period of 12 months before
31st December 2022 and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3. HIEEMRER (&

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 EAEKREE(E)
(iv) Credit risk (Continued) (iv) EERRE(E)
Trade and bill receivables (Continued) ESEWFEREKEZE (&)
On that basis, the loss allowance of trade and bill BWEE RZT__FE-F
receivables as at 31st December 2022 and 2021 ——F+-_B=1t—HHBS5E
was determined as follows: WHIE R EREREEREETE
W
By invoice date
RBEZAMH
0-3 4-6 Over
months months 6 months Total
0-31E A 4-6E R HEiB6@EA st
31st December 2022 —Egq2-
+=HA=+—8
Expected loss rate TEHAE 1B = 0.1% 0.5% 65.4%
Gross carrying amount —  BREAE(E —Z ZEU
trade and bill receivables  FIE K EW =S
(HK$'000) (F#7T) 45,688 6,368 456 52,512
Loss allowance (HK$'000) [Ei8#4E(T748T) 23 32 298 353
31st December 2021 —E-—F
+=A=t+—H
Expected loss rate TEHAEE X 0.1% 0.4% 91.5%
Gross carrying amount —  BREI4AE —Z S EU
trade and bill receivables T8 & EWZEHE
(HK$'000) (F%7T) 69,468 7,662 11,238 88,368
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EsiE##(T587T) 45 32 10,281 10,358
The loss allowances for trade and bill receivables R+—A=+—HESEWHKIE
as at 31st December reconcile to the opening loss KW E S E R EE
allowances as follows: BELRIT
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Opening loss allowance at MN— B — B AEERE
1st January 10,358 16,790
Net decrease in loss allowance T NE e E 18 B
recognised in profit or loss B EEE
during the year (11) (727)
Provision written off as RAYEAR]U[O] T S A 15 1
uncollectible (9,991) (5,792)
Exchange adjustment b 34, 38 B (3) 87

Closing loss allowance at R+=—A=+—BHX
31st December EERE 353 10,358
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade and bill receivables (Continued)

Trade and bill receivables are written off where
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the
group.

Impairment losses on trade and bill receivables
are presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost are
considered to be low credit risk primarily because
historically they had no history of default and
the debtors had a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
Therefore, as at 31st December 2022 and 2021,
the directors of the Group were of the opinion that
no provision for loss allowance was necessary.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and making available
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities
with staggered maturities to reduce refinancing
risk in any year and to fund working capital, debt
servicing, dividend payments, new investments
and close out market positions if required. The
Group maintains significant flexibility to respond
to opportunities and events by ensuring that
committed credit lines are available. As at 31st
December 2022, the Group had available trade
and loan finance facilities of HK$135,040,000 of
which HK$22,775,000 was utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3. HIEEMRER (&
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BKEKREE(E)
(v) Liquidity risk (Continued) (v) RBESERGE)
The table below analyses the Group's financial TERAIMASEENSREE &
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on AR I HAZAE R - BIEBEHBS
the remaining period at the end of the reporting HAREZESHNFEHAMNFRERE
period to the contractual maturity date. The T - ERABENESERE
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual HERMIRBSRE - ARR
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within KIS 2R - B 1218 A A 2
12 months equal their carrying balances as the HAR SRR E SR B AR -
impact of discounting is not significant.
On demand or Between
within 1 year 1to 2 years
RERS—FR —EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FBTT
At 31st December 2022 R-ZBE-_—F+=-H=+—H
Trust receipt loans EFEBIEE R 3,775 -
Bank loans RITEN 19,000 -
Trade and other payables B 5 R HAER FIE 17,207 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 77 -
At 31st December 2021 R=ZB-—5+=-HA=+—H
Trust receipt loans SR E K 14,372 =
Bank loans RITEK 60,000 =
Trade and other payables 2 5 RH M ERFIE 29,1038 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 454 77
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

B EREE(H)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3.
32 EERREE

3.2 Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group's capital
management is to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, maintain a strong credit
rating and a healthy capital ratio to support the business
and to enhance shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and business strategies. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payments to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debts. The Group's capital management objectives,
policies or processes were unchanged during the years
ended 31st December 2022 and 2021.

Except for the compliance of certain financial covenants
for maintaining the Group's banking facilities and
borrowings and loans, the Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. The Group
complied with the financial covenants attached to
borrowings and loans as at 31st December 2022 and
2021.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings
to total equity.

The gearing ratios at 31st December 2022 and 2021
were as follows:

AEEESEENTIZAR - BERX
SEFELDE - BRRIFVEEFTHRM
RROEDLE  UHEEBERR
RITBIR(EE

7R 5= B [ P A A A JL O B A R SR R M
KERMBRE B - NEE A AR
M TRCREVRE - BITHIAR - BRESUE
BER AKENESEERR - IR
RIEFREE— T“i&_”_—i
T-A=+—BLFEGENE -

B%L***?HM%Q B DA MERS AN [E B8R

ITRIE RAEFRFE RSN - REBN HS
Eﬂ&l\*ﬁﬁmﬁua’]éiﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ%u o ARE
BR—_ZFE_—_Frk—_F-_—F+_HA
=+ —BESFERME R R B 7R
E‘% o

ASBAIFIERLEERAAR - it
IR RIS B A s

BE_T__FRk_FT_—F1+_H
=T —HIEFEERLERAT

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FBTT

Total borrowings RIER 22,775 74,372
Total equity B 566,105 569,058
Gearing ratio iRk E 4.0% 13.1%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and liabilities including cash and cash equivalents, trade
and bill receivables, other receivables and deposits,
derivative financial instruments, trade payables, other
payables and accruals, lease liabilities and short-term
borrowings approximate to their fair values due to their
short-term maturities. The fair value of financial liabilities
for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments, unless the discounting effect is
insignificant.

See notes 15 and 16 for disclosures of the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties and note
19 for disclosure of the derivative financial instruments
that are measured at fair value and classified by level of
the following fair value measurement hierarchy at 31st
December 2022 and 2021:

1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

2. Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

3, Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the end
of reporting date. The quoted market price used for
financial assets and liabilities is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1 Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated taxes based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.
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REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
Br —FE-—fFf - HA=+—HIFFE

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements (Continued)

4.2 Estimated fair value of investment
properties, leasehold land and buildings
The fair value of investment properties, leasehold
land and buildings are determined at the end of each
reporting period by independent professional valuers.
The fair value of investment properties and leasehold
land and buildings in Hong Kong are determined on an
open market value basis by reference to comparable
market transactions. The fair value of buildings in
Vietnam and Mainland China are determined on
depreciated replacement cost basis or income
approach. The market approach and income approach of
valuation is subject to comparable market transactions
while the depreciated replacement cost approach is
based on estimation of current construction cost by the
Surveyors.

4.3 Impairment of trade receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of trade
receivables based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rate. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

4.4 Provision for inventories

Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment
of the net realisable value of its inventory, which is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion and selling
expenses. In making its judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as the age of
the inventory items and the assessment of the results
of the subsequent sales performance of the items.
Management reassess the provision at the end of the
reporting period.

4. BARERThET R E (&)

4.2

4.3
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HErREYR  HEL BRI
FHARE

REME  HELHWREBFHRLER
BIWEMRABLEXAERMETE ° &
BMENMINEBNEE L1 MEFH
RRELEALRTISR SN ARMS
BEET - AREE M EAENET
MR EZTEEERA LR EE
T o A A TIRER AT
ERAALBMSERS  MITEEEMK
ARTHERRIZ RS & AT R AR
ate

B 5 BWRIE 2 RERE
AEBEREABENRRLEREIREX
MR - SLE 5 M E M UGB E
BB - NEBIELZ SRR LI
B ENBEAZER - RIEAEEBAE
ALER « B IRE BIREVIRIT O K BIHE
MEAE T2 A -

FERE
REHEEEZ B IHERBEHER
HIER A BB e fhET S (ER A b5
TERERRHES I - REH FIERE -
EEEEREZHAE  WFERE 2R
BN HTHB REHERE 2R - B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements (Continued)

4.5 Estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of the property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Revenue and Segment Information

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of electric cable and wire products. Revenue
recognised during the year is as follows:

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

4. BARERThET R E (&)

45 Y¥  BERRE2GETAE
HAEH
TEEEERETYE  BERREZ
AEraER T RAEITERS o It
SFERYEAEERUME RINEZY
R f%& S it 2 BB T@%E%ZT
S 4EE - A REE BT E T B EE A
Eo%ﬁﬁ%#Mﬁ%%i fis AT {52 FR
FHRR 2 pifhat 2 8 S msssk
ﬁﬁa%%iﬁ%Z@ﬁﬁ#%%ﬁ
= o

5. WmkDABER
AEEEBEELS R ERTRRERER
$75 - FERNRRZ UG -

Sale of goods — at a point in time SHE — 7E AR 2

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
324,524 373,472

The Chief Executive Officer (the chief operation decision
maker (“CODM?")) has reviewed the Group's internal
reporting and determines that there are five reportable
segments, based on location of customers under the electric
cable and wire products business, including Hong Kong,
Mainland China, America, Japan and other countries. These
segments are managed separately as each segment is
subject to risks and returns that are different from others.

THAAE(BFEEARE ) CHEASER
MmEMBECEERREREREL TRIE
%}Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁfﬁ_ﬂﬂl"* BEEE - HEX
CEM - BAREMBEIR o ZF 0 EEE
Eﬁ&@%&ﬁ%ﬂﬁéﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%i DFEE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022

BE T - —F+-HA=1+—HIFFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. WHERSIHER (E)

(Continued)
The segment information for the reportable segments for TR CF R —FRES BN HE
2022 and 2021 is as follows: PSS NN
Revenue Total
(external Segment segment Capital
sales) results assets expenditure Depreciation
(W6
(INERSHE) DIEE BOWEE EER% wE
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
—E-CF —E-CFE —E-CE —E-CF —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THET FTHET FHET FTHERT
Hong Kong BB 41,157 3,755 128,618 537 5,292
Mainland China BTN =S 56,788 6,424 277,120 762 10,203
America M 188,541 8,322 100,975 - 2
Japan BA 35,560 2,308 1,094 - -
Other countries HAbBxR 2,478 217 99,502* 374 4,409
Reportable segment ¥R 75 &0 324,524 21,026 607,309 1,673 19,906
Unallocated costs ~ ADEE R (2,155)
Operating profit znm A 18,871
Revenue Total
(external Segment segment Capital
sales) results assets  expenditure  Depreciation
Wiz
(SNERSHE) DEEE B EE BARFR &
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021
—E-—F —E-—F —E-—F —E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT FHT FTAT TAT THAT
Hong Kong BB 48,915 2,886 127,577 3 5,208
Mainland China i BIARE 78,295 7,111 317,828 387 12,440
America EM 210,351 6,021 113,841 9 1
Japan =N 32,755 2,029 1,104 = =
Other countries HABIR 3,156 225 116,840* 8,811 3,267
Reportable segment ¥R 426 373,472 18,272 677,190 9,210 20,916
Unallocated costs AP EE R (1,914)
Operating profit A 16,358
p The assets mainly represent those located in Vietnam ZEEEFEEMNYREMEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

A reconciliation of total segment assets to the Group's total
assets:

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

ko ERE R ()

2022 2021

—E-C—F B

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Total segment assets By EEE 607,309 677,190
Investment properties TEYZE 47,154 43,100
Deferred tax assets RIEFIE A E 7,368 7,443
Total assets BEE 661,831 727,733

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.

Revenue of approximately HK$167,458,000 (2021:
HK$195,464,000) are derived from two (2021: two) major
customers contributing 10% or more of the total revenue.
These revenues are attributable to the America segment
(2021: America segment).

ADEBREARXL °

I 25 49 167,458,000 T (=& — — 4 :

195,464,000/ 7T ) R REMA( T = —
F ﬁﬁ%)a—tx%}f(fﬂﬂkmm%ju
b)) o ZFWRFRBAEMND (B ——4F

M ER) »

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Customer A ZEA 91,015 101,176
Customer B ZFB 76,443 94,288
167,458 195,464
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o=

=]

For the

BHmERMEE)

year ended 31st December 2022

Bz —F - —F+-_A=+—HIFEF

6. Other Income 6. Hblzm

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Scrap sales BERI 3,207 4,016
Interest income FEHA 31 13

Rental income from investment REEZEMEZBS KA
properties 1,545 1,524
Government subsidy (note (a)) B aL (Miak(a) 1,298 99
Other income from customers HE=FUA 3,178 2,083
9,259 7,735

Note:

(a)

During the year ended 31st December 2022, the Group
received subsidy from the Government of HKSAR of
approximately HK$804,000 (2021: nil) in relation to the
“Employee Support Scheme”. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies attaching in these subsidies.

@ #HZE

—E-_—HF+_A=+—HItFE &K

EEWERBERNTRERFE MR E
=8 M #HEE49804,000/8 L (—F = — £ :

T)

%A R ETROGRITE E

R AEIA

R 3
7. Other Operating Expenses, Net 7. HASERSIRR
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT T
Revaluation deficit of buildings EFEmEA 1,516 3,424
Loss/(gain) on revaluation of wEMESEHEBLR(FTZ)
investment properties 407 (120)
Charitable donations EE1BR 1,194 882
Net gain on derivatives financial PTES R T BRI
instruments (81) (449)
Net exchange (gain)/losses HNESFE (URER) Bk (4,421) 375
Net gain on disposal/write-off of HE MEWE  BEE
property, plant and equipment FfF (5) (282)
Other expenses HAbF% 1,705 1,076
315 4,906
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Operating Profit

Operating profit is stated after charging the following:

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

8. R&HA

RERME MR THIRIA -

2022 2021
—E-C—F T —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Depreciation res 19,906 20,916
Auditor’s remuneration ZE BB <
- Audit services —&5IEE 1,100 1,483
— Non-audit services —IEBETIER 632 728
Cost of inventories FER A 170,192 199,288
Lease payments for short-term and %288 MK BERENHEN K
low-value leases 46 37
Direct expenses for investment HEMERL c BEERYS
properties 111 302
Provision for slow-moving BRTFERETS
inventories, net 2,511 80
Staff costs (including directors’ BITRA(BIEESME) (F13E13)
emoluments) (note 13) 79,570 89,997
Finance Costs 9. MKEH
2022 2021
—E-C—F =B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Finance expenses on lease liabilities A& & &2 BRI 8 17
Interest expenses on bank |ITERZ M ERZ
borrowings 1,952 1,245
Finance cost 7% & 1,960 1,262
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

10. Taxation

(a)

Hong Kong profits tax provided at the two-tiered rate
of 8.26% for the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits for one of the Group’'s Hong Kong
subsidiaries for the year and 16.5% on the remaining
estimated assessable profits for the year (2021: 8.25%
for the first HK$2 million and 16.5% for the remaining).

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on
the estimated assessable profits for the year at the
applicable rates of taxation prevailing in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

US corporation is subject to two level of taxes.
Corporation is taxed on its earnings, and when the
corporate earnings are distributed to the shareholders
as dividend, the shareholders need to pay tax on the
dividend received. Corporate income tax is imposed
at the federal and state level on all entities treated as
corporation. The federal corporate tax rate is 21% (2021:
21%) while the state corporate tax rate is varied by
states.

The corporate income tax of the People’'s Republic
of China (“PRC") is provided at 25% based on the
assessable profit for the year less allowable losses
brought forward, if applicable. Two of the Group's
subsidiaries registered in the PRC are recognised as
small and low profit enterprise which have been granted
tax concession by the local tax bureau and are entitled
to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at concessionary rate
of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) for the first RMB1 million of the
estimated assessable profits for the year, and 5% (2021:
10%) for the remaining estimated assessable profits for
the year.

The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietham
were subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20%
(2021: 20%). In accordance with the applicable tax
regulations, a subsidiary is subject to a lower tax rate
of 10% for fifteen consecutive years, commencing
from the first year of making revenue. In addition, the
subsidiary is entitled to full exemption from corporate
income tax for the first four years from the earlier of (i)
the year when profit is generated for the first time or (i)
the fourth year of making revenue; and a 50% reduction
in corporate income tax for the next nine years, which
is offered by the Vietnam Government and is stipulated
in the subsidiary’s investment license. Perennial Cable
(Vietnam) Co., Ltd. is entitled to the full exemption from
corporate income tax starting from the financial year
ended 31st December 2019.

10. BiH

(a)

AREF-—BEBHBRARNERE (T
JE SR F % M8 B 2,000,000 7T R EE
T &r B T FERR B R F 99 5112 8.25%
}16.5% B/ & B B R IR B A FIE
H(=—ZF =——4F : 52,000,000/ 7T A
8.25% N FI#rIA16.5%) °

BN T BURE RIS 45 R
0l B B )RR R 1T
HAREE -

KB RRFHARR - RAIBLEEF
B BEXRBNESKED KT
R BORBAD BB B - ARG
RAHI TR B R IRE H N B E R
EFREH BAEEBRR[/21%(=F
% 21%) - MMNEEHRRMNG
mi -

rREE A RAFNE ([ B D DERETRTD
EL G A BR i A Rk A5 R S5 1B
(FRE R ) £ 25%5T1HE - AEEE M
R B s B B R B ERRE A/ M 2
REHRDREREER - FARHH
BTS2 AT BRiaf 8 A
RE1NBELZEERHE25%(=F
——%F :25%) RFEREHR T BRG]
5%(ZZE=—% :10%) °

R R B R B A Rl ZB15E20%
ZE—F 120%) M RB M E
Frisfi - IRIBEAHIEER - BB A
RIEEEEAKREEFREBETAFIR
BRI E10% ST - dod » BOEER
A& F ek (i) EE WS FENE(RRTE
HEEE)VEAENEAR - ZHBERARE
BEHAREHNDCEMER  WHRE
BNENZE0%DEMER KL
THEBEBRAS T WIRZHEB R R
I & FF A] B FTR] BH ° Perennial Cable
(Vietnam) Co., Lid. BB EH —-Z— N1
F+-_A=1+—HILBRFERRBEH
NN ZEFTISHL ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

10. Bi1E (%)

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated

income statement represents:

(a)

(#)

5
IS TN=RE

SR HBR Z BIAS ¢

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Hong Kong profits tax BENFH 107 309
Overseas taxation BN IR 3,072 1,507
Over-provision in prior years FRIBRER (165) (1,140)
Deferred tax relating to the TREEEAR
origination and reversal B0l 2 IRIERLIA
of temporary differences (FIEE10(b))
(note 10(b)) (1,951) 731
1,063 1,407

The taxation on the Group's profit before taxation differs

AR BB BRI AR A 2 TR R RR R

from the theoretical amount that would arise using the RAEAMSEHEME 2 ERiifEs =
profits tax rate of Hong Kong as follows: B0
2022 2021
—EC-CHF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FBTT
Profit before taxation BRA AT ) 16,911 15,096
Calculated at a taxation rate of 12 16.5%
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (ZZT=—% :16.5%)
*Jr:CZWE 2,790 2,490
Effect of different taxation rates TRBE 2 & (1,835) (535)
Income not subject to taxation R AR 2 WA (108) (663)
Expenses not deductible for A% 2
taxation purposes 593 1,275
Over-provision in prior years FHIRRRR S (165) (1,140)
Utilisation of previously 3 AR AT ARTER
unrecognised deferred tax assets BIETIEE = (235) (157)
Tax losses for which no deferred REREERIBEE
tax assets were recognised TIsEE 23 137
Income tax FriS i 1,063 1,407
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

10. Taxation (Continued) 10. BiE(F)
(b) The movements of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities b) AEENBAFERELEHRIEEE) &

recognised in the consolidated statement of financial EAR B FRENEFH T -
position are as follows:
Revaluation Tax Provisions
surplus  depreciation and others Tax losses Total
EffR& BHERE BEREM HEER a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T THT T
At 1st January 2022 R-ZE-—F—f—H 44,803 (6,475) (4,476) (3,645) 30,207
(Credited)/charged to the GtA)/ Mk aka
consolidated income BRE
statement (806) (1,353) (672) 880 (1,951)
Charged to revaluation reserve I BE{hH/E 3,431 - - - 3431
At 31t December 2022 i S
+-A=1-H 47,428 (7,828) (5,148) (2,765) 31,687
At 1st January 2021 R=E-—45—A—H 46,764 (5,734) (4,533) (5,934) 30,563
(Credited)/charged to the GTA)/HkakA
consolidated income Bak
statement (874) (741) 57 2,289 731
Credited to revaluation reserve st AEfGRE (1,087) - - - (1,087)
At 31st December 2021 WZZ-—%F
+-A=t-H 44803 (6,475) (4,476) (3,645) 30,207
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial AP BARRREENT
position is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF =B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets FETIIBE 2 7,368 7,443
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEE (39,055) (37,650)
(31,687) (30,207)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

10. Taxation (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of
HK$489,000 (2021: HK$701,000) in respect of losses
amounting to HK$2,948,000 (2021: HK$4,048,000) that
can be carried forward against future taxable income.
As at 31st December 2022, tax losses for which no
deferred tax assets were recognised amounting to
HK$32,000 (2021: HK$937,000) will expire in 5 years,
and the remaining tax losses of HK$2,916,000 (2021:
HK$3,111,000) has no expiry date.

Deferred tax liabilities of HK$7,897,000 (2021:
HK$7,321,000) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries.
Such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted
earnings totalled HK$78,974,000 at 31st December
2022 (2021: HK$73,212,000).

11. Earnings Per Share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the Group's profit for the year of HK$15,848,000 (2021:
HK$13,689,000) divided by the weighted average number
of 198,958,000 (2021: 198,958,000) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

In both 2022 and 2021, diluted earnings per share is the same
as basic earnings per share due to the absence of dilutive
potential ordinary shares during the reporting period.

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

10. TE (&)

11.

b) (&)
B EEERAELERBEERN
HEE - RREBRAEELERNKRKE
R T i ) T B 3R A A8 B R S A 2 i
ﬂ°$%liﬂ%7 % U 3 oK 2R
JE BR 7 Uk 25 HY /5 18 2,948,0008 7T (=
T — —4F : 4,048,000/ T ) FERRIE I
FRIA & E489,0008 T (—_F = —%F :
701,000 7L) - R—_ZTE-_—_F+=
A=+—8 AERELHBEEEZ
TS E1832,0008 L ( —& = —F ¢
937,000/8 7T) RN AFERNEIE - 2T
T I%ET182,916,00008 T ( — T = —4 :
3,111,00078 70 )W EEE|HE H -

RNEFI RS THEB R R ARERE
F7 ﬁs‘zﬁmﬁimfﬁuﬁ{mﬂm&m
EEFTEE (F7,897, oooﬁénL ==

& 17,321,000 7T) - WERBEESH
EREMRE RN -_—F+_A
=+ —BAREREFIEG 78,974,000
WIT(ZE=—4 : 73,212,000/7T) ©

BREF

SRERNAF B ENSE B AXFE &
15,848,000/ 7L (= ZF = — 4 : 13,689,000
/EE)B%inmE%TELHQZBME%’:J%

198,958,000 % ( == — — £ : 198,958,000
fRETE -
RZB-—FR_F——F  ARHEHH

BAEABEBEL AR  REeREEan R
HEREARNER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

12. Dividends 12. HQ,E\
A dividend of HK$3,979,000 that relates to the year ended RZEBE-_—_FNA+HRHEREHZ_-Z
31st December 2021 was paid on 15th June 2022 (2021: nil). ——F+ZA=+—HIEFEKES979,000
BL(ZE=—F &) -
A final dividend of HK$0.03 per ordinary share, amounting E/\f S —FRA-+t=A#TFERIZZ
to a total dividend of approximately HK$5,969,000, is to T__FRRABAFRG L BEFRRER
be proposed at the 2023 AGM on 23rd May 2023. These HiR% B E AR EAAR0.038 T + BIARRR B 49
consolidated financial statements do not reflect this dividend 5,969,000/ 7T ° ANAR A B 75 3k W £ R B 5%
payable. JERTAR S ©
13. Staff Costs (Including Directors’ 13. ET XA (BIEEZHE)
Emoluments)
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FiBT
Wages, salaries and fringe benefits T& - #rfil & ZEHNEEL 72,972 83,123
Social security costs HERERA 4,783 5,400
Pension costs — contribution to RIRAA — BB S FTEIVEH 2 H5Kk
MPF scheme 430 436
Others HA 1,385 1,038
79,570 89,997
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and

Key Management

(a) Directors’ emoluments
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of person’s
services as a director or other services in connection
with the management of the affairs, whether of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking are set out

14.

e M mRME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

EERTEEBABZEINR

R

(a) EEHEN
EREEAATRENBRAREERE
HE M REBEEABOREZ ALY
B ok E RIS BB -

below:
Contributions Other
Discretionary to MPF benefits
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses scheme (iii) Total
wEe Hith @R
EEpE He e migRe HE 224 (iii) BE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
For the year ended
31st December 2022
BE-E--F
TZA=t-HLEE
MON Chung Hung (i) - 4,560 805 - 309 5,674
RIRIEG)
KOO Di An, Louise - 1,320 110 - 361 1,791
Bz
SIU Yuk Shing, Marco - 672 56 18 512 1,258
RIBRK
MON Wai Ki, Vicky - 355 30 18 - 403
REHE
MON Tiffany - 1,080 90 18 278 1,466
RER
MON Derek - 474 36 18 170 698
RER
LAU Chun Kay {ii) 180 - - - - 180
2B
LEE Chung Nai, Jones (i) 84 - - - - 84
FrE()
CHUNG Kit Ying (ii) 120 - - - - 120
R (i)
384 8,461 1,127 72 1,630 11,674
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REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and 14. EENFTEEEAE 2@ A K

Key Management (Continued) ¥ (&)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEEHM(E)
Contributions Other
Discretionary to MPF benefits
Name of directors Fees Salary bonuses scheme (iii) Total
S HebfaF
EENE e e BiFRe SRS (iii B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT THET T THT BT TET
For the year ended
31st December 2021
BE-Z--fF
TZA=+-HLEE
MON Chung Hung (i) R 4,560 375 - 260 5,195
ARHE()
KOO Di An, Louise - 1,320 110 - 234 1,664
BEx
SIU Yuk Shing, Marco - 672 56 18 - 746
BB
MON Wai Ki, Vicky - 355 30 18 - 403
BER
MON Tiffany - 1,080 90 18 428 1,616
nEfh
MON Derek - 40 40 2 - 82
RER
LAU Chun Kay (i) 180 - - - - 180
ZIARE()
LEE Chung Nai, Jones (ii) 84 - - - - 84
FRE()
CHUNG Kit Ying (ii) 120 - - - - 120
R (i)
384 8,027 701 56 922 10,090
(i) Chief Executive Officer (i) TTERAEEL
(i)  Independent non-executive directors (i) BWUIERITES
(i) ~ Other benefits include commission and insurance (i) EMEF2EHEEMS RRBER -
premium.
During the year, no emolument paid or receivable in TACE N S35 5 22 (B P 48 LS B sk e Lk
respect of a person accepting office as a director (2021: e (—T——4F : E)AREBHEESR
nil) and no director waived any emoluments (2021: nil) ENG (—F——4 : &) EEE A

or compensation for loss of office (2021: nil). B —F:8)o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and
Key Management (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2021: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits
None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31st December 2022, the Group
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2021: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31st December 2022, there is
no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements
in favour of the directors, or controlled body corporates
and connected entities of such directors (2021: nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year (2021: nil).

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022

BE T - —F+-H=1—HIFFE

14. EERFTEEBABZEBIR
xS (1E)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

BEERRAKRER
FR - HEEED e EGR KR R
(ZT=—F ) -

EEMNRIEER
FA - BHEEFCWSRER LEERR
Ber(—F=——%: #)-

MRERHEEREMRAE=F1E
T E

BE_T-_—F+-_A=+—HI#F
& - AREEE RS SRS S

FoRHNEHE( T —F  |) o
MEE  ZTZSEEEHNE
ABBRZEENEESHEIR
HHER EEFNHEMRS
HER
BE_T-_—F#+-_A=+—HI#F

B OBENEE SEYSRHEER
BMSEEATEA Y BN EERNA
ZH(—FE=—F : &) -

ESEXRS  RHIAGHNE
KR

W EmEBANTEBHARBERLS
—FEARRBEFEREFR(TmBEEK

) A EA D (NAFFRINEF
AERERE)NERRS « ZHREH
—= E'E ﬂ)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and 14. EENFTEEEAE 2@ R

Key Management (Continued) = (E)
(g) Five highest paid individuals (g) EfuBREHFMAL

In 2022, the five (2021: five) individuals whose
emoluments were the highest in the Group included
four (2021: four) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2021: one)
individual during the year are as follows:

RZZE-—F A(ZTE-_—F: H
MOAEESESHFMALTEENG(=F
——F AN EF  WUEFEZNE
EEHR EXDHT c AEREZ T EHK—
fM(ZZT=—F : —f7) ATHFENN
T

2022 2021
—E-CF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T
Basic salaries, other allowances BEAXF € - MR REY
and benefits in kind s 1,198 1,140
Discretionary bonuses HERE 22 110
Pension costs — contribution to BIRKA — BFESEIEL
MPF scheme 2R 18 17
1,238 1,267

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

HEMEE T5IEE

Number of individuals

AEHEH
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E—F
Nil-HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/5 7T - =
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L&
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1




Notes to the

14. Benefits and Interests of Directors and

Key Management (Continued)

(h) Key management compensation
Key management includes all directors presented
above and three (2021: four) senior management. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for

Annual Report 2022 4 #R

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

14. BEERFTEEBAEBZENIR
= ()
(h) TESEAS S HH
TEEBABBEMABES N =I(Z
E-_—F O)SHLEEE - MEE
BIE A B HEAEBIREHE k&

employee services is shown below: SEan T -

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FBT

Basic salaries, other allowances EXFH - EMEBEREY
and benefits in kind )z 13,042 11,962
Discretionary bonuses 5 e 1,228 880

Pension costs — contribution to RIRER AR — 8 FE SR EIE T
MPF scheme AR 126 111
14,396 12,953

The emoluments of senior management (excluding
directors) are within the following bands:

SREREZHME(TREER)E TS
#E :

Number of individuals

AEEH
2022 2021
—EB-CF —E-—F
Nil-HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 8
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T2

1,500,000 7T

1 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
HE—F-——FF+-_A=+—HIFEF

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. Y% - BMERRE

Right-of-use Furniture
assets Buildings Leasehold Plant and and Office Motor Pleasure ~ Construction
(note a) (notec)  improvements machinery fixtures ~ equipment vehicles boats in progress Total

fRREE £
(Hfita) (Hite) BEZE  HERBE  FAREE  BOTRE bt il fRIR i
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
THR THL THR THL THR THL TR THR TEL 1A

-2
-B-B2

Net book value at
st January 2022

(4429)

)
82m

(1,370)

261873

6817

(9.450)

(4,960)
9,943

(18,643)

(1,203)

11,884
1025

1877
(15)
(2.991)

8876

(8,694)

406,112
1673

(16)
(19,906)

4637)
18,220

20,662)

12314

3320
88513

(9,519)

18,104

(14,482)

95,560

(83,974)

5,046

(4.714)

14,980 1815 14421

(12597) (5,89)

(1,773)

189,246
334493

(142955)

112,314

245,980

3622

11,586

3

2,383 1919 2,648

380,784
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. Y% - MERZE (&)
(Continued)
Right-of-use Furniture
assets Buildings Leasshold Plant and and Office Motor Pleasure  Construction
[note a) [note.c)  improvements machinery fixtures equipment vehicles boats in progress Total
sz 52
(Hizka) (Hizkc) RERE  BRREE  GAREE  BOSH & i FRIE o
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Thn T T ThL Thn ThRL Thn ThT Thi ThR
Net book value at
st January
201
114,665 266,122 3,163 10,804 519 3,721 2520 3,484 14,944 419,948
Addition e 899 - - 902 - YY) - - 8515 10528
Reclassifcation ~ TAEHTAE
upon completion - 8,187 3,030 3578 - - - - (14,795) -
Disposalsfwrite-off it /Hi - (340) - (174 - 5} - - - (519
Depreciation il ] (4,506) (9,750) (1,253 (3.469) (104) (941) (549) (344) = (20,916)
Revaluation Efy (1,689) (8722) - = = = = = - (10.391)
Exchange ES
adjustment 524 6,376 64 213 - 2 18 - 12 7462
Netbook valueat  W=F=—%
31stDecember ~ TZA=T—A
2021 LEESE 109913 261873 5,004 11,884 415 3018 1989 3140 8876 406,112
At31st December =%
201 t-A=1-H
At cost R 35124 - 18937 97,113 5309 15,512 7436 14421 8876 202728
Atvaluation-2021 f5E-=5=—% 83511 261873 - - - - - - - 345,384
Accumulated ZEfE
depreciation (8,722) = (13,933) (85,229) (4,894) (12,494) (5,447) (11,281) = (142,000)
Netbookvalue ~ BEFE 109913 261,873 5,004 11,884 415 3018 1989 3,140 8876 406,112
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE_E_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. ¥¥ - ENRE (&)

(Continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FERAEEE
Leasehold Land use Leased
land in rights in property
Hong Kong Overseas in Hong Kong Total
LREBR NRAEING &5
HELH T fEFRE HEME k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx T AT FTaERr
Net book value at RZZ-_—F—A—HBz

1st January 2022 REFE 83,511 25,840 562 109,913
Depreciation £ (3,275) (704) (450) (4,429)
Transfer to investment property  EEERE M (HIFE16(f)

(note 16(f)) - (77) - (77)
Revaluation & 8,277 - - 8,277
Exchange adjustment BEE 3 % - (1,370) - (1,370)
Net book value at RZZE-—F+=A

31st December 2022 =+—BZEmFE 88,513 23,689 112 112,314
At 31st December 2022 i S

+=ZA=+—H
At cost AR - 32,421 899 33,320
At valuation - 2022 fEE-—FT=-—4F 88,513 - - 88,513
Accumulated depreciation ZIEHE - (8,732) (787) (9,519)
Net book value AREHE 88,513 23,689 112 112,314
Leasehold Land use
land in rights in Leased
Hong Kong QOverseas property Total
IR B S ANzl
AELTH THb{E AR HEWZE Fk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHAT FHT FHT
Net book value at RZZT-_—F—A—BZ

1st January 2021 BREFE 88,520 26,033 112 114,665
Addition NE - - 899 899
Depreciation e (3,340) (717) (449) (4,506)
Revaluation S (1,669) - - (1,669)
Exchange adjustment b A - 524 - 524
Net book value at RZZE=—F+=A

31st December 2021 =t+—HZEEFE 83,611 25,840 562 109,913
At 31st December 2021 RZZEZ—F

+=-A=+—*H
At cost B - 34,225 899 35,124
At valuation — 2021 ME-—T-—F 83,511 - - 83,511
Accumulated depreciation 2FEME - (8,385) (337) (8,722)
Net book value BRI FE 83,5611 25,840 562 109,913
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment

(Continued)

(b) Leases (b)
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a ﬁﬁﬁuﬁmf PR EEARBEANEENE
lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows

(i)

15. Y13 - BB K&k (&)

WRE P BARRR T HER

?E\Eﬁi‘%ﬂk/ﬁi’%ﬂﬁﬂ’u"l—éﬁii‘ﬁi*\ﬁE@

£ %

the following amounts relating to leases: k]

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THT

Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Leasehold land in Hong Kong —REBHNEE L 88,513 83,5611
— Land use rights in overseas — (R SNE b {5 AR A 23,689 25,840
— Leased property —HEmE 112 562
112,314 109,913

Lease liabilities HEEE

— Current —BNHA 77 454
— Non-current — JEBNHEA - 77
77 531

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following

(ii)

RIS BRRPERHN DR

ki

I

FRERRKBTNATEESAENES

amounts relating to leases: o
2022 2021
—E-—F —E -
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEERERX
assets
— Leasehold land in Hong Kong —(UREBNHAELH 3,275 3,340
— Land use rights in overseas — (LR INE b f5F AR A 704 717
— Leased property —HEmE 450 449
4,429 4,506
Interest expense (included in FIERX (FE AR EER)
finance costs) 8 17
Expenses relating to short-term leases SHHEEREEEHAEN
and low value leases (included in HEEER X (FFATTHE )
administrative expenses) 46 37

The total cash payment for leases in 2022 was
HK$500,000 (2021: HK$482,000).

RZTZZF %H‘E\Zfﬁéﬁ%’&%
# /500,000 T (ZF = —F -

482,000/87T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

(c) Leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong and factories in
Mainland China were revalued on the basis of buildings in
open market value by market approach or/and depreciated
replacement cost approach, by Ascent Partners Valuation
Service Limited, an independent firm of chartered surveyor.
Factories in Vietnam were revalued on the basis of open
market value by depreciated replacement cost approach by
VAS Valuation Co., Ltd., an independent firm of chartered
surveyor. The following tables analyse the land and buildings
carrying at fair value, by valuation techniques.

Fair value hierarchy

15. Y13 - BB K&k (&)

(c)

NRBEENAE T REFRPRAENT
R B BEAEMS ATEZABR AT
REFAR™MEZ EEFEATS A RIT
EBERAEEM - (AR TREA B
535 B £ B 77 VAS Valuation Co., Ltd. 3z A
AMEEEFRNTESERAEER ° A
TERINEFBHEERTA TR A REAR
KLt RAEF o

Fair value measurements at
31st December 2022 using
—g==£+=A=1-A
ERAUTHANAAENE

Quoted prices Significant
in active other Significant
markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
HREEHR BEARKEA BAW
SERTISHNRE ABEBA TABREHA
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B-%&) (=) (B=/)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TR THER

Recurring fair value measurements & & {EA L EE
Leasehold land or/and buildings: AELT e, RET :

—in Hong Kong — (B
—in Mainland China — RIAFBIARRE
—in Vietnam — R

- - 101,200
- - 181,153
- - 52,140
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

(c) (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

15. Y13 - BB K&k (&)

(c)

(&)
D ARERER )

Fair value measurements at
31st December 2021 using
—E-—F+ZR=1+—H
RN TRARNALENE

Quoted prices Significant
in active other Significant
markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
BREEE ERMEM DN
TSR (E ABEHA TAEEREH A
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(F—#) (F=®) (B=/)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAxT FAT FABxT
Recurring fair value measurements & EMHEAREE
Leasehold land or/and buildings: FAE s RiEF
—in Hong Kong — RIREHE = = 95,300
—in Mainland China — AR BIARE - - 201,691
—in Vietnam — fIREE - - 48,393

The Group's policy is to recognise transfer into and transfer
out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

There was no transfer among levels 1, 2, and 3 during the
year.

As one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market date, the property, plant and equipment of
the Group is categorised as level 3.

3 A AR AR H A

RERNE— - ZR=HA2HE

BEMR

W EER o

IR ZIRE K AN IR E A EE T
SRR BANKENME  BERREIER

FE=R-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. ¥¥ - ENRE (&)
(Continued)

(c)  (Continued) (e) (&)
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable FMAERTAEEG ANDABE

inputs (Level 3) (B=#)
31st December 2022
ZE-ZHE+ZA=t-H
Leasehold Factories in
land in  Buildings in Mainland Factories in
Hong Kong  Hong Kong China Vietnam Total
UREBN URAEBZ LR R
HE+H BF  AEZIER ZIK e
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTiEx FTET THExT FET FTiExT
At 1st January 2022 N_E-_—_F—H—H 83,511 11,789 201,691 48,393 345,384
Reclassification upon EREETHE
completion - - - 6,817 6,817
Depreciation nE (3,275) (462) (7,555) (1,433) (12,725)
Transfer to investment ~ EEEREYE
property (note 16(f)) (Fif=ET6(f) - - (4,560) - (4,560)
Revaluation surplus BHEH 8,277 1,360 8,440 143 18,220
Exchange adjustment bE 5 AR - - (16,863) (1,780) (18,643)
At 31st December i S—
2022 +=—A=t—H 88,513 12,687 181,153 52,140 334,493
Revaluation (deficit)/ FTAGREEBRRN
surplus for the year [ H sy 58]
included in the WAEE 2B
consolidated (kL) / Bagh
income statement
under “other operating
expenses, net"” - - (1,659) 143 (1,516)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. ¥¥ - ENRE (&)

(Continued)
(¢) (Continued) () (&)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

NAEXRTUTBEERANQIAENE
(=) (&)

31st December 2021
T —F+ZRA=1—H

Leasehold Factories in
land in Buildings in Mainland Factories in
Hong Kong Hong Kong China Vietnam Total
UREEE UREEZ (NG AR
&L BF AEZIR a3 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FHAT
At 1st January 2021 RZZ=Z—F—H—H 88,520 11,880 212,020 42,222 354,642
Reclassification upon SRBETHE
completion - - - 8,187 8,187
Write-off HisE = = = (340) (340)
Depreciation e (3,340) (448 (8,089) (1,213) (13,090)
Revaluation (deficit)/ Efh(E4) /B
surplus (1,669) 357 (8,272) (807) (10,391)
Exchange adjustment b 5 R - - 6,032 344 6,376
At 31st December RZT=——F
2021 +=A=t+-H 83,511 11,789 201,691 48,393 345,384
Revaluation deficit for the st ALZAEZRE
year included in the ffﬁ’rﬁl”“%ﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁj
consolidated income HAREE 2 S EA
statement under “other
operating expenses, net"” - - (2,617) (807) (3,424)
Valuation processes of the Group AEENGERE

The Group's leasehold land and buildings were valued at
31st December 2022 and 2021 by independent professional
qualified valuers who hold recognised relevant professional
qualifications and have recent experience in the locations and
segments of the land and buildings valued. For all leasehold
land and buildings, their current use equates to the highest and
best use.

The Group's finance department considered and discussed the
valuations performed by the independent valuers for financial
reporting purposes, including all key inputs to the valuations
and property valuations movements as compared to the prior
year. The fair values of the properties have been determined by
Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited and VAS Valuation
Co., Ltd.

AEENHRE L MEFHBY FEAERM
T -_—FR-_FT-—F+=-A=+—H
HE - WEHEMBEHEERIEEER -
ﬂﬁ?fﬁﬂaﬁaﬁiﬁ&@?ﬂﬂiﬁ%ﬁuéﬁii@vﬁi&

HAReES ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂiéif@&@? - HHATK
ff%E AHS S M&EFR °

AE B E MRS B 08B (HERD
MHEETZE R KW - EEEMENE
FERAMMELEELFELRTHE
) o W EMENANBEEHIFATERAE
R A & &2VAS Valuation Co., Ltd.EE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

(c)

(Continued)

Valuation techniques

For leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong, the valuation
was determined using the market comparison approach
with reference to comparable transactions available in the
relevant market. Sales prices of comparable properties in close
proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes such as
property size, character and location. The most significant input
into this valuation approach is price per square foot.

For factories in Mainland China and Vietnam, the valuations
were determined using depreciated replacement cost approach
with reference to the cost to reproduce or replace in new
condition the buildings appraised in accordance with current
construction costs for similar building and structures in the
locality, with allowance for accrued depreciation as evidence
by observed condition or obsolescence present. These inputs
include:

Cost of construction

Cost per square metre to completion estimated by the valuer
using direct market comparables and taking into account the
useful life and size of the property and its facilities as at 31st
December 2022 and 2021.

Estimated depreciation

Deducting all sources of depreciation by straight-line method
over the useful life, including physical deterioration and
functional and economic obsolescence and adjusting by the
physical condition of the building.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year.

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31st
December 2022

15. Y13 - BB K&k (&)

(c)

(&)

fhE I
UREBNEE L RETHBESERR
M5 A LR S RIS L BOEREE © 45
AT EMEEE ST 2R (Pl
FHE  HERME)NEREHFE - Y
I EERN R EA B A RE T REES o

LA B RE K #i e 1) TRt {E - ARISARRE
HEE B AR IR T FIR MR ER A - 85
MEFUEMREERAMANKA RS
Z FIRFEEERAEETE - Wt ARE
RPN KR ER I 2 AT E R
ZEBMABHE

BERRA
HEMR-ZE kT -_—F+=A
=t+—BERAEEMB LR AT LT AY
¥ RHEESENEAFH BRGNS
FARTERRA ©

fHEHInE

JE FR B4R A B4 =R 1E RS A A BN RS 2R
RRITE - BEERBREMDEEMEREE
WIERE - WIREFEERR R MIEL A -

FALESMILEES) -

R-B-—F+=A=+—ARAEATT
BRBANAAEHBNERN (E=/)

Relationship of unobservable

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
iR fRIEH i TR ERE A FRBE@AHAABENRER
Factory in Heyuan, Depreciated Average cost of construction of The higher the estimated cost per
Mainland China replacement cost RMB1,587 (2021: RMB1,700) square metre to completion,
approach per square metre the higher the fair value.
(LR AR B RS R Y MESEXRNE FHEBRRARETHRARE BT AKEKMETKASR 278
TR 1,687L(ZE=—F : AR¥E B e

1,7007T)

Estimated depreciation over the
remaining useful lives of 37
years (2021: 38 years)

BATAEAEHI7E (22—

F ¢ 38F ) fhFHTE

The higher the estimated
depreciation, the lower the fair
value.

EEHTENS - AAERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. ¥¥ - ENRE (&)

(Continued)

()  (Continued) () (&)
Information about fair value measurements using R-B-_—_F+-_A=+—HEFEHEKXF
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31st BEHANAIAEFENER(E=ZR) (A)

December 2022 (Continued)

Relationship of unobservable

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
fut fR{E i A B EE A FHERBMAYH D A ENBR
Factory in Shenzhen, Depreciated Average cost of construction of The higher the estimated cost per
Mainland China replacement cost RMB3,758-RMB3,887 (2021: square metre to completion,
approach RMBS3,462-RMB3,666) per the higher the fair value.
square metre
iz P FR B A Bz R 31 MESEXARNE FHEBRAREBTARARE ST KEKMGE KA AR
T 3,7587T- AR #3,887 L (= BEES -
Z—F | AR¥3,462TT-ARH
3,6667T)

Estimated depreciation over the  The higher the estimated
remaining useful lives of 20 depreciation, the lower the fair
and 33 years (2021: 21 and 34 value.
years) for different construction
phase of building

REFTRZEREROBRTAIE  @AiTEds - AAEBIE -
FAFHM20F R3B3F(ZT=—

F 1 21 R34F)

Factory in Vietnam Depreciated Average cost of construction of The higher the estimated cost per
replacement cost US$247 (2021: US$263) per square metre to completion,
approach square metre the higher the fair value.

27 1 B TR MEEERRE ﬂ?ﬁ@ ﬁk$7%tﬂ?ﬁ+247§7z BYARER A RASR - 27

—Z 4 : 263%7T) Bl o

Estimated depreciation over the ~ The higher the estimated
remaining useful lives from depreciation, the lower the fair
22 to 38 years (2021: 23 to 39 value.
years) for different construction
phase of building

REFTRZEREROBRTAIE @A TEds - AAEBE -

A HIRI22F E38F (=T = —
F 1 23F FE39%)

Leasehold land Direct comparison Sales prices, HK$12,505 (2021: The higher the sales price per
and buildings in approach HK$11,776) per square foot of square foot of a comparable
Hong Kong a comparable property in close property in close proximity, the

proximity higher the fair value.

URBEBHNES TR HEELEE ACEREDEHEBRET AR STFHIRZILEEYEFEEER
BF 12,5058 ( =T =—4 ! BE - AREES -

11,7767 7T)
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REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

The net book value of these leasehold land and buildings
would have been HK$140,324,000 (2021: HK$147,485,000)
had they been stated at cost less accumulated depreciation on
the historical cost basis.

At 31st December 2022, the net book value of leasehold
land and office located in Hong Kong, which were pledged
as security for the Group's bank borrowings amounted to
HK$97,000,000 (2021: HK$90,900,000).

Included in the total depreciation expenses, amounting to
HK$14,374,000 (2021: HK$15,403,000) and HK$5,532,000
(2021: HK$5,513,000) were charged to cost of sales and
administrative expenses, respectively.

15.

W% - BEKk&RE(E)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Mz ERE L REFHIEFEL KA Z
EUKABRBRETESNR - AZSERE
SE(EFE 5140,324,0008 (-2 = — 4 :
147,485,000 7T) °

RZB_—_F+-_H=+—8  REFE
97,000,000/ 7T ( == — —4F : 90,900,000
BL)ZUREBZHETHRRAE - B
TERAEBIRITREZ IR o

AT HE 14,374,000 T(— 2 = —
F : 15,403,000 %8 7T ) &F A & K AN &
5,532,000/ 7L ( = = — % : 5,513,000
L) AT -

16. Investment Properties 16. REY
2022 2021
—E-CF ==
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At fair value BARE
Opening balance at 1st January R—HA— B Z V% 43,100 42,980
Transfer from property, plant and B AV - WEREE
equipment (note (f)) (P E) 4,637 =
Revaluation (loss)/gain charged to the B#rAERERNG 2
consolidated income statement EXCAC- P 6 (407) 120
Exchange adjustment P FE R (176) =
Closing balance at 31st December RTZA=+—BZHRe5E 47,154 43,100

(a)

Amounts of (i) rental income and (ii) direct operating
expenses from the investment properties, which were
recognised in the consolidated income statement, are
disclosed in note 6 and 8 respectively.

As at 31st December 2022, the carrying amount of
investment properties pledged as security for the
Group’s bank borrowings amounted to HK$26,600,000
(2021: HK$27,800,000).

As at 31st December 2022 and 2021, the Group has no
unprovided contractual obligations for future repairs and
maintenance.

(a)

R4 A

RiF AR R RN ES AR iR
BYE BRLER SR IR
65 FiIFE8 I FE

RZE-_—_F#+—-_A=+—H " KA
{8 726,600,000/8 L ( =& = — & :
27,800,000/ 7C) 2 EWME - BEEA
RNEBIRITE R 2T o

R-ZE-—FR-_ZT—-—F+_A
=t+—H ANEEWELRBZBER
REGBZABEAHNET -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. Investment Properties (Continued)

(d)

(e)

For the minimum lease payments receivables on leases
of investment properties, refer to note 26(b).

The Group's investment properties are held within
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties through sale. The Group has
measured the deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties using the
tax rate and the tax bases that are consistent with the
expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties.

The Group's investment properties are held under long
lease. As at 31st December 2022, their locations and
existing use are as follows:

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022

B2 —F - —F+-_A=+—HIFEF

16. REW* (])

(d)

(e)

(f)

BRIREYEHER K REAEN
K wLHMTE26(b)

FRAEANEEREMEZES - 5HELH
EMBFEBRADRE W EAREEN
7o ARBE D EAEZFREYEAY
WEETA B2 REEBE A EAH
REREME L ERFER Y N IR
g o

REFNREYMENRPHAEES - B
T _F+-A=+—H8 HEMER
HERABIT !

Location Existing Use by lessee
ih 24 AEABRBRE
Concordia Plaza, No. 1 Science Museum Road, Hong Kong Office

BN BB RREES WAE

Hing Yip Centre, No. 31 Hing Yip Street, Hong Kong
BB EEIREEH L

Lot Nos 03-07, Hu Die Ling Industrial Park, Heyuan City, PRC*

FR B SA R T ) i 2e T 3£ B 03-0731b 158

Office and car-parking space
WAEREN

Dormitory

BE

* On 31st August 2022, the Group has entered into a
rental agreement with 2 JR 5 @ K & £ £ JIl 2 & for
renting the Group's certain building in the Mainland
China. Upon the signing of the rental agreement,
the Group has changed the usage of the property
and reclassified building and right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$4,560,000 and HK$77,000
respectively from property, plant and equipment to
investment property.

Investment properties were revalued on the basis of
open market valued by direct comparison approach and
revalued on basis of the rental income derived from the
existing leases valued by income approach by Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Limited, an independent
firm of chartered surveyors, as at 31st December 2022.
The revaluation gains or losses are included in “other
operating expenses, net” in the consolidated income
statement. The following table analyses the investment
properties carried at fair value, by valuation techniques.

* R-ZT-_—F)\A=+—H K&EH
EHREREEAREFI BRI
HEH::E  EHAAEEMRFEKX
BEMETETF B HEHRE
AEBEESWERE B2 R4
4,560,000 JT % 77,0007 Jt U 4E F
REABEERDE  BEREHBE
FDRERITEE -

R-ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—H ' &&Y
¥mBEEGEMMATEZRER
NERARMEZEEFTREELEE
EETBERAEHEEELENES WAL
WeiAE - BB GTALGEBR
* N EMELmTF8 IR - TRAIH
FAHEEMTA TR RBEARNEE
Yz o
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REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

16. Investment Properties (Continued)
(@ (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy

16. REW* ()

@ (&)

DIREEBR

Fair value measurements at
31st December 2022 using

—E--#+=-A=+—H
FAUTHANDAETE
Quoted prices Significant
in active other Significant
markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
HREEE BEARMNHAM PN
TEIBTIE I RE AEREA FABEBA
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Description it (B—#) (=) (B=8)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TER
Recurring fair value KEMAREE
measurement
Investment properties REME - - 47,154
Fair value measurements at
31st December 2021 using
—EC—Ft+-A=1+—H
ERUATHRANDD
Quoted prices Significant
in active other Significant
markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
HEREEE BERHHEAM E-WN:()
ERTISHRE ABEHEA TAEREBA
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Description fit (F—&) (B=&) (B=)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAET TAET
Recurring fair value PN ETTE
measurement
Investment properties REME - - 43,100

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfer into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused
the transfers.

REEZ MR ENEHEYR 2 IR
BEHAMERBASIELRINERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. Investment Properties (Continued)

(9)

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3
during the year.

As one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market date, the investment properties of
the Group are categorised as level 3.

Valuation processes of the Group
See note 15(c) for valuation processes of the Group.

Valuation techniques

The valuation of investment properties was determined
using the market approach with reference to
comparable transactions available in the relevant
market or income approach with reference to the rental
income derived from the existing lease. For market
approach, sales prices of comparable properties in close
proximity are adjusted for differences in key attributes
such as property size, character and location. The most
significant input into this valuation approach is price per
square foot. For income approach, rental income is with
due allowance for the reversionary income potential of
the leases, which are then capitalised into the value at
appropriate rates. The most significant input into this
valuation approach is price per square metre.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques
during the year.

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022

B2 —F - —F+-_A=+—HIFEF

16. ZRE Y= ()

(9)

(#8&)
DAEERE)
FNE— ZR=HHEBEES -

AEENEERE
H2HM 150 A KB AEREE

e

fh{E S i

BREWMENEESEZHEMIS A LR
HMBMEER2EREHEELNH
SWARAWEEETE ° BLHIHAM
5 EABOR L BMENEED R ER
R (DI mEAE - 1 RibEh) B =
KELFE - HILHEZINRERHA
AEFHROER - gllisims - H
SWAGTEEENFERAES - HiR
REE L RENMEAEEEE - Hith
EZENZERBA RS T ITKHER -

FRMBERMLEEES -
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RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE_E_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

16. Investment Properties (Continued)

() (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements
using significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) as at 31st December 2022

16. IREYHX(E)
(@ (&)
Y Mim-—s+-A=+-8
EREARTEZBANAR
BB OEE(E=F)

Relationship of unobservable

Description Valuation technique ~ Unobservable inputs inputs to fair value

it fEERM FUBEERARE TABEERABBEEAABZER

Land and buildings in Market approach (1) Sales prices, HK$4,625 (2021: The higher the sales prices per square

Hong Kong HK$4,833) per square foot foot of a comparable property in

of a comparable property in close proximity, the higher the fair
close proximity value

UREE 2 T3 RIEF [iiE%s TEENFHERRE TR BYARBEBENFHEBRH
R4,6258T(ZFZ—%F B ANEES
4,83387T)

(2) Sales prices, HK$13,574 (2021:
HK$12,741) per square foot
of a comparable property in
close proximity

WA EHEBRE TS
R13574BT(ZE_—5 .

12,741%7T)
Land and dormitory in Income approach Unit rent RMB8 per square The higher the prevailing market rent,
Heyuan City, PRC metre / the higher the fair value
1&5%2 EiRmetink  WeEk BiHeGTHRARKST Baompisds  AaEEE
1
17. Inventories 17. &
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
Raw materials R 62,198 58,684
Work in progress ER G 13,379 20,280
Finished goods B mm 79,828 89,323
155,405 168,287
Provision for inventories FERE (9,299) (6,745)
146,106 161,542

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included
in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$170,192,000 (2021:
HK$199,288,000). Provision for inventories of HK$2,511,000
(2021: HK$80,000) was included in “cost of sales” in the
consolidated income statement.

FEXRATPEREERILIIATHEK K]
B4 %8 4170,192,0008 T ( — 8 = — 4 :
199,288,000/ 7T) ° ¥ E#2,511,00078 7T
:;ﬁ:_fﬁ 80, OOO/%TE)E:E#)\ TDTEﬁIL
RIHERA ] -
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For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

18. Trade and Bill Receivables 18. EZEINRIEREBEWEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Up to 3 months ENEAE =& A 44,392 66,954
4-6 months P& B = 7~ & B 6,368 7,662
Over 6 months BimsNEA 456 11,238
Trade receivables, gross (note (a)) B Sl A 2R (5T @@) 51,216 85,854
Loss allowance B (353) (10,358)
Trade receivables, net B SN IRF 5 50,863 75,496
Bills receivables e E I 1,296 2,514
52,159 78,010
(a) At 31st December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of (a) ZEZF R —%+=H
gross trade receivables is based on invoice date. :+ =] %%JEWMIE%EEEZ%E@%
FIEZHHEIDAT o
(b) Trade and bill receivables are denominated in the b) ESEWGIEREREEATYIEEET
following currencies: :
2022 2021
—E-CF B —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
HKS BIT 4,877 7,665
RMB ARE 7,634 13,538
US$ ETT 39,648 56,807
52,159 78,010
(c)  The carrying value of trade and bill receivables () EFEWFENEWREREZEEEREE
approximate their fair values due to their short term AAERNEEEEH -
maturities.
(d) Information about the provision of loss allowance of the d FBHEEBZEUGESERELRAEEER

trade receivables and the Group's exposure to credit
risk can be found in note 3.1(iv).

FRE B AR HE R AT 2 BIMEES 1 (V) ©
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REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

19. Derivative Financial Instruments

19. fT&E€RTI A

2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets at fair value through ~ IRA R EzF AIBR Bt ARER
profit or loss and included in the REMBARRR BIRBIEER
Group's consolidated statement of WIEEE
financial position as current assets
Foreign exchange forward contracts ~ JNEREFE XY 1,100 28

The Group has certain outstanding foreign exchange forward
contracts with external reputable banks with long positions
in RMB and VND (2021: VND) for hedging its purchase
transactions and operating expenses denominated in
RMB and VND (2021: VND). The fair value of the foreign
exchange forward contracts is determined by using valuation
techniques. The valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. As all significant inputs
regarded to fair value on instruments are observable, the

instruments are included in level 2.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts at 31st December 2022 were

approximately US$5,200,000 (2021: US$600,000).

20. Cash and Cash Equivalents

AKEEINPEBR G ZIRITAEE T HAMRE
TTZINEEREH - P RARE RgmEE (=
T—F BEE)FR - REREUARE
KEmE (=T =4 : BEE)HEMNRE
R PBERX - SNERAB N2 ARETY
RASEXNERE - HERNEEF M #
KmEBEINE)  REVRBERZEE
et - MR ETAZAREMBEZMEE
R ARABRYIE - AEZETAIIAR
—JE e

RZB-—F+-A=+—0 " HRBITZ
HNE R B G %) 2 3= A RE47/55,200,0003
TT(ZZE=—% : 600,000%7T) °

20. RERBEEEY

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FATT

Cash at banks and in hand RITREFRE

21,048 19,308
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

20. Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the
reporting period of the Group is cash at banks amounting to

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

20. RERBEZEY (&)
RBERRAEEZKEERRRRITRE
20,895,000/ 70(—F ——4 : 18,916,000

HK$20,895,000 (2021: HK$18,916,000). BIT) °

2022 2021
—E-CF B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T

Denominated in: HEER
HK$ BT 2,016 5,086
RMB ARK 6,132 2,744
US$ ETT 12,634 10,365
Other currencies H bk 266 1,113
21,048 19,308

Included in the balance are bank balances and cash
deposited in Mainland China and Vietnam of approximately
HK$5,146,000 and HK$528,000 (2021: HK$2,660,000 and
HK$2,069,000), respectively, which are mainly denominated
in RMB and VND and are subject to the exchange control
restrictions imposed by the governments in Mainland China
and Vietnam.

FREE B IR BKRE R 2 IRTTAEH IR
S FRD B4 A5,146,0007 7T f2 528,0005%
T(ZZE=—%4 : 2,660,000/ 7T % 2,069,000
BIT)  HEBUARB L HEEAEEEN
S 52 BR A AR B K B I i R R T B e 2 OB
HIFRAE ©

21. Share Capital 21. g7
No. of shares HK$'000
& eE T
Authorised JRIE
At 1st January 2021 and RZZE=Z—F—HA—A8AK
31st December 2021 and 2022, B R TF__F
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each +=—A=+—8"
BAREE0.10/87T 2 i 500,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid BEITREE
At 1st January 2021 and RZE-—F—H—HK
31st December 2021 and 2022, —ECFR-E_—F
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each +=—A=+—8 "
SIRAE0. 10757 2 T Bk 198,958,000 19,896
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

22. Trade Payables and Other Payables, 22. € 5 E{f R E K H it FE 3 &
Accruals and Contract Liabilities g EESREXREHNEAE

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT T

Trade payables (note (a)) B Z e 5kIA (FisE(a) 11,684 22,714

Other payables and accruals H N FIERERT RS 17,622 19,337

Contract liabilities aHaE 172 -

Total (notes (b) and (c)) 42 FE (P sk (b) K (c) 29,478 42,051

Notes: MI5E -
(@) At 31st December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of trade (a) %:Z::ﬁi&:%:—i—i—:\ﬂ %‘f'—
payables based on invoice date is as follows: E - B ENFIEREESE A B2 R AT
N

2022 2021

—E-CF —E_—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET Tt

Up to 3 months BNEAZ =& A 10,937 22,216

4-6 months mEAZENEA 345 472

Over 6 months Bid N EA 402 26

11,684 22,714
(b) Trade payables and other payables and accruals are (b) B FRERIERE AR EIE R ERT A

denominated in the following currencies: THIEEEE

2022 2021

—Z=-= T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET F#T

HKS BT 4,009 8,692

RMB ARE 17,911 22,471

uss$ ETT 5,337 8,461

Other currencies HibE# 2,221 2,427

29,478 42,051
(c)  The carrying value of trade payables and other payables and () BIENREREMEMFEREFFASZZ

accruals approximate their fair values due to their short term IREESEEARERNEER S -

maturities.
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REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

23. Borrowings 23. B

2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T

Current liabilities RBEE
Trust receipt loans ErEBIEER 3,775 14,372
Bank loans SRITER 19,000 60,000
Total borrowings HBIEFR 22,775 74,372

All borrowings are secured by certain land and buildings and
investment properties of the Group (notes 15 and 16) and are

supported by limited guarantees given by the Company and
certain subsidiaries.

(@) The maturity of borrowings in accordance with the
repayment schedule (without taking into account the
repayment on-demand clause) is as follows:

MEFAREENE T L RBFRIRE
%%{’Eﬁﬁ#ﬁ(ﬁﬁ?1 5%16) W AR E MET

B A RRHERERSS -

(a) RIBENERR (W EEERRIEE

#) BEEHANT

Bank loans Trust receipt loans
RITER EEBBEN

2022 2021 2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—F —E_C_F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET TET
Within 1 year 1ER 19,000 60,000 3,775 14,372
19,000 60,000 3,775 14,372

(b) The average effective interest rates per annum as at
31st December 2022 are as follows:

b) RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—HHFHE

PREMZMT -

2022 2021

—E-CF TS —aE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FAT

Trust receipt loans EEBIEER 3.92% 1.58%
Bank loans RITE K 2.84% 1.60%

(c)  Borrowings are mainly denominated in HK$ and USS$.

(d)  The carrying value of borrowings approximates their fair
values.

(c) BREEUBITHMET

(d) EREREEEEQERS -
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RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022

BE T - —F+-HA=1+—HIFFE

24. Financial Instruments by Category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been

applied to the line items below:

24. RERETHNERMTE

ERMTAZEHHRRCEANTIIERR

Financial
instruments
Financial at fair value
instruments at through profit
amortised cost wor loss
R R A BRARBERA
Rz emMIAE BRMEmIA
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHIT
31st December 2022 —E-_—_F+=-BA=+—H
Assets as per consolidated IR EMBRRRZEE
statement of financial position
Trade and bill receivables H 5 FE k1A K FE U= R 52,159 -
Derivative financial instruments TEEmITE - 1,100
Other receivables and deposits E bl IE KT & 4,278 -
Cash and cash equivalents RENRREEEY 21,048 -
77,485 1,100
Liabilities as per consolidated JIIRGEMBRRARZ2EE
statement of financial position
Trade payables = AN 11,684 -
Other payables E e 3RIE 5,514 -
Lease liabilities HERE 77 -
Bank loans IRITEK 19,000 -
Trust receipt loans SRR EK 3,775 -
40,050 -
31st December 2021 —E2-_—%+=-HA=+—H
Assets as per consolidated FIRGEMBRARZEE
statement of financial position
Trade and bill receivables B 5 EUGRIA K R R 78,010 —
Derivative financial instruments MTESMIEA - 28
Other receivables and deposits HEM W IERE]E 5,744 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREeEFEEY 19,308 -
103,062 28
Liabilities as per consolidated SR GRERBERRRZER
statement of financial position
Trade payables B S e FRIE 22,714 -
Other payables H AT FRIA 6,389 —
Lease liabilities HEBE 531 —
Bank loans RITER 60,000 —
Trust receipt loans EEBIRER 14,372 =

104,006
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25. Notes to the Consolidated Statement 25.

of Cash Flows
(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

wh R Eﬁr%/}lbiﬂ% MT%I
(a) RBAIGRIESEEE (Fr

to net cash generated from/(used in) RAINEREZHER
operations
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBTT
Profit before taxation BRA AT ) 16,911 15,096
Interest income AEUA (31) (13)
Interest expense FMERAX 1,960 1,262
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE -« BRENEE
plant and equipment Wz (5) (282)
Loss/(gain) on revaluation of EMEEGEX(F1R)
investment properties 407 (120)
Revaluation deficit of buildings ~ #EF &4 &4k 1,516 3,424
Depreciation of property, plant  #% - B MREITE
and equipment 19,906 20,916
Reversal of impairment loss on & 5 JE R IE R (E 5185 [T
trade receivables (11) (727)
Provision for slow-moving ERTFERETE
inventories, net 2,511 80
Operating profit before working &8 & & 88 i 2 £ &
capital changes gl 43,164 39,636
— Inventories - FE 4,355 (39,489)
— Trade and bill receivables and ~ — & 5 EUERIE K
other receivables, deposits FEU SR IR & B At
and prepayments JEWRIE « Rl
IEM T 29,331 (18,674)
— Derivative financial — PTESmIT A
instruments (1,072) 2,564
— Trade payables and other — B REMNFIER
payables and accruals o fth S FRIE 2
FERTFIS (11,971) (5,081)
Net cash generated from/ BEEYS/(FTA)®
(used in) operations FRE 63,807 (21,044)
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REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

25. Notes to the Consolidated Statement 25. ZZ8BEESHKRERMEE(E)
of Cash Flows (Continued)

(b) Analysis of disposal of property, plant and (b) HEWE  MERZEDN
equipment
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds TERARERERN  HEVE BE
from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise: REBATSHELE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Net book value REFE 16 519
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE  BE
plant and equipment NG 5 282

Proceeds from sale of property, HEWZE « M= K&&kiE

plant and equipment F1S 5K 21 801
(c) Non-cash investing and financing activity (c) IBERERMETH
A non-cash investing and financing activity relating to ISP RREEEMRECIBRSRER
acquisition of a right-of-use asset is disclosed in note B RE T 154KER o
15.
(d) Analysis of changes in cash flows from (d) REZTHAMERLSRESSHD
financing activities #r
Bank loans Trust receipt loans Lease liabilities
RITEX ERBBER HERE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

—E--E —B--& CZE--f —E--—& CZE-ZE —FT-—&

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TAT TRT TAT TET TAT

At 1st January w—HA—H 60,000 37,200 14,372 8,627 531 77
Additions R 62,000 35,000 68,340 91,196 - 899
Repayments B (103,000) (12,200) (78,937 (86,351) (454) (445)

At31st December ~ R+=A=1+—H 19,000 60,000 3,775 14,372 77 531
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

26. Commitments
(a) Capital commitments
At 31st December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not
have any capital commitments.

(b) Commitments under operating lease as
lessor
At 31st December 2022, the Group had future
aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases as follows:

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

26. &iE
(a) EAEIE
RZEBE-_—_Fk-_F-_—F+=A1
=+—8  AEEWETAEREE

(b) AHBARLEHE RS
R-BE-_—F+-A=1+—H A&EH

BT RHEEEEEN B R KERK
HEFRIRARENT

o

Land and buildings

T i REF
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT T
Within one year —FR 435 1,426
Between one year and two years —&F £ RE 399 770
834 2,196

27. Financial Guarantees and Pledge

At 31st December 2022, the Group had the following banking
facilities, of which approximately HK$135,040,000 (2021:
HK$128,040,000) were secured by limited guarantee from
the Company and by legal charges over certain land and
buildings and investment properties of the Group with a
total carrying value of approximately HK$123,600,000 (2021:
HK$118,700,000).

27. BB ERRIER
R-_TBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H K&EEH
LATERITEE + H A 49 135,040,000 7% 7T
— &~ —4F : 128,040,000/ 7T ) SA R A Al
itz BEREREAEER@MES X4
123,600,000/ 7T( == = —4F : 118,700,000
B2 ET L RIEF RIREYEEZE
TEFRRCIEIESR o

2022 2021

—E-C—F —E—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FiBT

Trade and loan finance facilities BoRERRE 135,040 128,040
Forward exchange contract line BRHINER KRR 82,347 82,389

28. Ultimate Holding Company
The Directors of the Company regard Spector Holdings
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
as being the ultimate holding company and Mr. Mon Chung
Hung as being the ultimate controlling party.

28. BRARER AT
RRAREERATERBREZASFMKILZ
Spector Holdings Limited J3 & 4R 3% A% A 7 K&
TR S A B R AR T o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRRME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
HE—F-——FF+-_A=+—HIFEF

29. Subsidiaries 29. B A F
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31st RZZEZ—F+-A=+—H KQFFE
December 2022: ToEEMB AT :

Place of Issued and fully paid

incorporation/ share capital/registered

establishment capital/charter capital Principal activities Interest
BRARARKE/

i/ UG -G YT IERH B

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBWMARME(E

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BrE T - —Ff+ A=+ —HIFE

29. Subsidiaries (Continued) 29. B~ =) (4)

Place of Issued and fully paid

incorporation/ share capital/registered

establishment capital/charter capital Principal activities Interest
BRREREREK/

A/ AU R -CYE TN U IERH B

Shares held indirectly (Continued)

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
REMBREMFE(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE T - —FF+ - HA=+—HIFFE

29. Subsidiaries (Continued)

29. B AT (&)

Place of Issued and fully paid
incorporation/ share capital/registered
Name establishment capital/charter capital Principal activities Interest
BRTRATRE/
£ Hh/ R iftEs/HTER TEEH Bi
2022 2021
—ECCE “E-f
Shares held indirectly (Continued)
BEEERG(H)
Shenzhen Perennial Plastics and ~ Mainland China Registered capital HK$40,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of 100% 100%
Mestal Co., Limited note (a)) electric cables, wires,
wire hamess and
accessories
MIEFEEREERAR HEIARE A& 740,000,000 70 HERHEER BR
(Mst(a) HERRRAN
Shenzhen Perennial Plastics Co,  Mainland China Registered capital HK$10,000,000 Manufacturing and sale 100% 100%
Limited (note (a)} of plastic resins and
compounds
MIBREZERAA(Ha)  REAE & 710,000,000/ 7 BERHELBARERR
k&
Heyuan Perennial Plastics and Mainland China Registered capital RMB65,000,000  Manufacturing and sale of 100% 100%
Metal Co., Limited (note (a)) electric cables, wires,
wire hamess and
accessories
ARESLE2ERAT HEARE A& 2R AR #65,000,0007 HERHEER &R
Rz (a)) AR RS
Perennial Cable (Vietnam) Co., Vigtnam Charter capital US$8,000,000 Manufacturing and sale of 100% 100%
Limited (note (c)} electric cables, wires,
wire hamess and
accessories
(RzEc)) iz FTATA78,000,000% T HERHEER R
BeRRRAH
New Technology Cable (Vietnam) ~ Vietnam Charter capital VND577,750,000 License Holding 100% 100%
Limited
i FTATAARE77,750,00018E AR
The legal form of all the above companies is limited liability LA AR ABRARNEE o

company.



Annual Report 2022 4F 3R

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

29. Subsidiaries (Continued)

Save as noted below, the above companies operate
principally in Hong Kong instead of their respective places of
incorporation/establishment, except for:

(a) Perennial Cable (Shenzhen) Co., Limited, Shenzhen
Welldone Trading Co., Limited, Shenzhen Perennial
Plastics and Metal Co., Limited, Shenzhen Perennial
Plastics Co., Limited and Heyuan Perennial Plastics and
Metal Co., Limited are in the PRC.

Perennial USA Inc. is in the United Sta

REMBWMARME(E

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BrE T - —Ff+ A=+ —HIFE

29. ffE8 A A ()
BRATEBI - AR HEHHEER
EiS IR BRI, B i -

(@ BEERORIDERAR  RYNEFKE
BERESHARRAR  AMEHLBLE
BRAA] - FYMERBBARAE S
REHLZBRSARARMNFTE -
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RAaVBRERMEGE)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BE_E_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

30. Statement of Financial Position and

30. ARRHBRARREHEEE

Reserve Movement of the Company *®
Statement of Financial Position B AR R R
2022 2021
—E-CF T
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B = FET T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets IEMENEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZI%E 62,738 62,738
Current assets BN EE
Amounts due from subsidiaries J@H&Mﬁ%@i%ﬁﬁ 54,878 58,550
Other receivables, deposits HEmpEUEE ~ slek
and prepayments SEUNECE] 340 338
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁé&fﬁﬁﬁ{g% 87 83
55,305 58,971
Total assets BEE 118,043 121,709
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to AR B IR (G R 2
shareholders of the Company
Share capital [N 19,896 19,896
Other reserves Hibf# (a) 78,537 78,537
Retained earnings RE BT (@) 19,510 23,200
Total equity R 117,943 121,633
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities mEAE
Other payables and accruals HAb R I R ERT X 100 76
Total liabilities 5= 00 76
Total equity and liabilities i MaE 118,043 121,709

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 21st March 2023 and
was signed on its behalf.

MON Chung Hung
=R
Director

EBEF

KRB ZHBARRKR _;_:E A
e E§<<<%$ATH:/EI[1J§2§ BE

SIU Yuk Shing, Marco
L7024

Director

EF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBRARME(E)

For the year ended 31st December 2022
BER _FE_—Ff _H=+—HIFE

30. Statement of Financial Position and 30. A2 R BRARREEESE

Reserve Movement of the Company =(#E)
(Continued)
(a) Reserve Movement (a) fREEE
Contributed Capital
Share surplus redemption Total other Retained
premium (note) reserves reserves earnings Total
BB TN
RADRE (K RERE #HORE - REE7 g

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TATL TAT TAT

At1stJanuary 2022 R-Z-—4%F

—A—H 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 23,200 101,737

Total comprehensive  AFEEZ2 AUz
income for the year ~ #4%8 - - - - 289 289
Dividend paid ERRE - - - - (3,979) (3,979)

At31st December ~ R-ZT-—4
2022 = A=F—H 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 19,510 98,047

At 1st January 2021 R-ZT=-—%

—A—H 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 22,608 101,145
Total comprehensive  AEE2HE Y
income for the year 4% - - - - 592 592

At31st December ~ R-Z-——4

2021 +-A=+—~H 15,885 62,548 104 78,537 23,200 101,737

Note: The contributed surplus of the Company arose when Bt : ANRARZEBABBALRRTEITR
the Company issued shares in exchange for the shares AR BN R Bl R D12 B A
of subsidiaries being acquired in connection with the ERGABRAR EMAIEARS
reorganisation of the Group prior to its listing on The MU Z B AR Z & pimE
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and represents £ EERARRRBITRG HEE
the difference between the nominal value of the HAWENB ARz EEFEZE
Company'’s shares issued and the value of net assets B REAREN/\—FRa0A
of the subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act (IEFT) - MARBKRAHI IR TR
of 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed ReZAEEZER @ BARBKRT
surplus is distributable to the shareholders. At Group ENHBEAEERNB AR Z HiEA
level, the contributed surplus is reclassified into its KEBD ©

component reserves of the underlying subsidiaries.

31. Approval of the Consolidated Financial 31. #R& M EHKR 2t/

Statements X w N O\
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the i‘ff' Eﬁi%#&\i%ﬁﬁé_;ﬁ_:izﬂ =tk =
Board of Directors on 21st March 2023. BEFEHE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Bt 15 #E R

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EF T —EF —T-nE E-N\F
Operating results REEE(THET)
(HK$'000)
Revenue Wias 324,524 373,472 282,342 301,357 355,744
Operating profit/(loss) R,/ (B18) 18,871 16,358 (19,697) (11,916) 1,726
Profit/(loss) for the year AEFRM,/ (BE) 15,848 13,689 (19,231) (13,198) (1,760)
Financial position BT (FB )
(HK$'000)
Net current assets mEEEFRE 169,615 149,896 116,263 130,939 133,146
Shareholders’ funds [ E S 566,105 569,058 549,280 562,524 578,085
Per share data (HK cent) & REE (B4L)
Earnings/(loss) per share - GRZ K|,/ (E518)
basic and diluted —HARR#E 8.0 6.9 (9.7) (6.6) (0.9)
Dividend per share (interim &R&AE (FE K
and final dividend) AEARR ) 3.0 2.0 - - -
Key Statistics TER
Inventory turnover (days) — FEE®E (K2 227 173 181 149 117
Debtors’ turnover (days)  FEMRERIE®E (KE) 73 67 90 104 88
Creditors’ turnover (days) — EfTRRE® (K& 39 46 46 39 38
Acid-test ratio (%) REILL (%) 141% 90% 99% 119% 138%
Working capital (%) EEED(%) 399% 224% 221% 221% 220%
Total liabilities/total capital 428 (& /428 F
employed (%) B (%) 16.9% 27.9% 24.9% 27.1% 26.8%
Return on capital employed & 3 & AR =
(operating profit/ (EmF/
shareholders’ funds) (%)  BRERE S )(%) 3.3% 2.9% (3.6%) (2.1%) 0.3%
Return on average total T4 R
assets (profit after (BB EER,
taxation/average total FHBEE) (%)
assets) (%) 2.3% 1.9% (2.7%) (1.8%) (0.2%)
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